University of New Hampshire University of New Hampshire Scholars' Repository

Master's Theses and Capstones

Student Scholarship

Spring 2011

The effect of suspended solids during UV/ hydrogen peroxide advanced oxidation of municipal wastewater

Laith Furatian University of New Hampshire, Durham

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholars.unh.edu/thesis

Recommended Citation

Furatian, Laith, "The effect of suspended solids during UV/hydrogen peroxide advanced oxidation of municipal wastewater" (2011). *Master's Theses and Capstones*. 632. https://scholars.unh.edu/thesis/632

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Student Scholarship at University of New Hampshire Scholars' Repository. It has been accepted for inclusion in Master's Theses and Capstones by an authorized administrator of University of New Hampshire Scholars' Repository. For more information, please contact nicole.hentz@unh.edu.

THE EFFECT OF SUSPENDED SOLIDS DURING UV/H₂O₂ ADVANCED OXIDATION OF MUNICIPAL WASTEWATER

BY

LAITH FURATIAN

BSc. Engineering Physics, University of Alberta, 1999

THESIS

Submitted to the University of New Hampshire

in Partial Fulfillment of

the Requirements for the Degree of

Master of Science

in

Civil Engineering

UMI Number: 1498958

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



UMI 1498958 Copyright 2011 by ProQuest LLC. All rights reserved. This edition of the work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code.



ProQuest LLC 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346 This thesis has been examined and approved.

alla ·M Thesis Director, Dr. James P. Malley,

Professor of Civil/Environmental Engineering

Dr. M. Robin Collins,

Professor and of Civil/Environmental Engineering

Chair of Civil Engineering

20

Dr. William Cairns, Chief Scientist, Trojan Technologies

May 11, 201

Date

Dedication

This work is dedicated to my mother.

الجنة تحت اقدام الامها ت حديث نبوي

"Heaven lies under the feet of mothers."

Hadith

Acknowledgment

Support for this work was provided by Trojan Technologies of London Ontario, Canada. In particular, I would like to thank Ted Mao, Bill Cairns, and Domenico Santoro for allowing me to work in this exciting field.

I would also like to thank Dr. Jim Malley for having first introduced me to the topic of UV in water treatment, and Dr. M. Robin Collins for having introduced me to the field of water treatment in general and for supporting me during my first year at the University of New Hampshire.

And thank you to Barbara Noonan at Trojan Technologies for helping me get settled in London during my time there.

I thank the dear friends I made in both Durham New Hampshire and London Ontario, for making life more enjoyable and for their generous assistance. Specifically, I thank Yannis Korkolis, Raed Zuhair, Cyrus Perron, Scott Cloutier, Cyndy Carlson, and Zach Magdol among others.

And lastly I thank the very friendly University of New Hampshire staff of both the Office of International Students and Scholars as well as the Graduate School for their kind and generous assistance throughout. Their smiles and warmth mean a lot to students who are far from home.

Table of Contents

ABSTRACT	v i
INTRODUCTION	1
CHAPTER I: LITERATURE REVIEW	3
Background: Water, Energy and Reuse	3
Chemical Oxidation of Organic Pollutants in Wastewater	9
Advanced Oxidation by O_3/H_2O_2	13
Advanced Oxidation by UV/H ₂ O ₂	14
Treatment schemes for the removal of specific contaminants	
Effect of Suspended Solids on the UV/ H_2O_2 AOP	
CHAPTER II: MATERIALS AND METHODS	
Experimental Design	
Sampling and Sample Preparation	
Wastewater Characterization	
Measurement of para-Chlorobenzoic Acid	40
Collimated Beam Apparatus and Experiments	41
Data Analysis	43
Preliminary- Experiments and Qualitative Observations	44
CHAPTER III: RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS	47
Wastewater Characterization	47
Results of Collimated Beam Experiments	47
Discussion	57
CHAPTER IV: CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	61
REFERENCES	63
APPENDIX A: DERIVATION OF IMPORTANT EQUATIONS	76
B.1 Water quality	78
B.2 HPLC calibration curve for pCBA	81
B.3 Collimated Beam Petri Factor	82
B.4 Collimated Beam Experiments with pCBA	83

List of Tables

1.1 Specific energy usage for water and wastewater treatment	.5
1.2 Oxidants used in water treatment and standard reduction potentials1	1
1.3 Photolysis data for several micropollutants and H_2O_2 at 254 nm1	18
1.4 Scavenging capacity of natural waters2	26
1.5 Scavenging capacity of wastewater effluents2	28
1.6 Second order rate constants of low molecular weight organics2	29
3.1 Summary of water quality parameters4	ł 7
3.2 First order rate constants for removal of pCBA from unfiltered secondary	
effluent (CAS1) for a H2O2 dose of 13 mg/L4	18
3.3 First order rate constants for removal of pCBA from microfiltered secondary	
effluent (CAS ₁ + MF) for a H ₂ O ₂ dose of 13 mg/L4	49
3.4 First order rate constants for removal of pCBA from unfiltered secondary	
effluent (CAS ₂) for a H ₂ O ₂ dose of 13 mg/L	51
3.5 First order rate constants for removal of pCBA from microfiltered secondary	
effluent (CAS ₂ + MF) for a H ₂ O ₂ dose of 13 mg/L	52
3.6 First order rate constants for removal of pCBA from membrane bioreactor	
(MBR) effluent for a H_2O_2 dose of ~6.5 mg/L	53
3.7 Estimates of hydroxyl radical scavenging and contribution due to alkalinity5	55
3.8 Summary of results (average ± standard deviation, n=3)	57

List of Figures

1.1 Fraction of photons absorbed by H_2O_2 for a range of %transmittance and H_2O_2
concentrations at λ = 254 nm24
1.2 Contribution to hydroxyl scavenging from alkalinity and dissolved organic
carbon at pH 7 and $k_{OH,DOC} = 10^3 L \text{ mg C}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$
1.3 Contribution to hydroxyl scavenging from alkalinity and dissolved organic
carbon at pH 7 and $k_{OH,DOC} = 10^4 L \text{ mg } \text{C}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$
1.4 Contribution to hydroxyl scavenging from alkalinity and dissolved organic
carbon at pH 7 and $k_{OH,DOC}$ = 10 ³ L mg C ⁻¹ s ⁻¹ 32
1.5 Treatment schemes and energy requiremed for equivalent treatment with
respect to a particular contaminant, i.e. $log(C_i/C_f)$
2.1 Collimated beam apparatus41
3.1 The removal of the probe compound pCBA from unfiltered effluent from CAS_1
dosed with 13 mg/L H_2O_2 48
3.2 The removal of the probe compound pCBA from microfiltered effluent from CAS_1
dosed with 13 mg/L H_2O_2
3.3 The removal of the probe compound pCBA from unfiltered effluent from CAS_2
dosed with 13 mg/L $\rm H_2O_2$ 50
3.4 The removal of the probe compound pCBA from microfiltered effluent from \ensuremath{CAS}_2
dosed with 13 mg/L $\rm H_2O_2$ 51
3.5 The removal of the probe compound pCBA from membrane bioreactor permeate
(MBR) for a H_2O_2 dosed of ~6.5 mg/L
3.6 Steady-state hydroxyl radical concentration measured via pCBA54
3.7 Hydroxyl radical scavenging measured via pCBA54
3.8 Estimates of specific UV energy per order of probe compound pCBA (UVE/O)
under irradiation at 254 nm56

ABSTRACT

THE EFFECT OF SUSPENDED SOLIDS DURING UV/H₂O₂ ADVANCED OXIDATION OF MUNICIPAL WASTEWATER

By

Laith Furatian

University of New Hampshire, May, 2011

As wastewater and water reuse practices evolve to meet changing effluent requirements, the capabilities of various technologies to achieve treatment objectives merit investigation. This work examines the influence of suspended solids on the efficiency of the UV-H₂O₂ advanced oxidation process to affect oxidation of organic contaminants in biologically wastewater effluents. Effluent samples from two conventional activated sludge plants were used to produce microfiltrates with 0.2 µm nylon filters. Para-chlorobenzoic acid (pCBA) was used as a probe compound to indirectly quantify the steady state OH concentration in samples spiked with H₂O₂ and irradiated using a bench-scale UV collimated beam apparatus. An effluent sample from a membrane bioreactor was also evaluated. No significant difference in steady state OH concentration was observed between unfiltered and microfiltered samples, suggesting that suspended solids may not significantly contribute to hydroxyl radical scavenging in such effluents. Implications to the role of filtration are discussed.

INTRODUCTION

The UV/H₂O₂ advanced oxidation process (AOP) is more energy efficient for the removal of organic contaminants in water when the waters to be treated are highly transparent to light at 254 nm, and contain low amounts of dissolved organic matter and alkalinity. These conditions are common to reverse osmosis (RO) permeates and make the UV/H_2O_2 AOP an attractive method of further treating such effluents for substances not fully removed by RO.

However, the RO process is energy intensive, with a specific energy of treatment ranging between 0.6 to 1.5 kWh/m³ for the treatment of secondary effluents. Substantial chemical costs are involved in the maintenance of membrane systems, and the disposal of concentrates must be addressed (Pearce 2008). For many applications, RO permeates far exceed water quality requirements.

Since for many applications the required water quality is far below that of RO permeates, a lower quality water is often desirable for reuse purposes. A common wastewater reclamation scheme involves conventional biological treatment followed by filtration. Though removal of suspended solids via filtration generally results in a small reduction of UV absorbance, it is not known if such removal significantly alters the radical scavenging properties of the water, and thus the overall efficiency of a subsequent AOP. This work investigates whether filtration of

conventional secondary effluent improves the efficiency of the UV/ H_2O_2 AOP for removal of organic pollutants in wastewater. Bench scale studies using unfiltered and microfiltered samples of secondary effluent were performed with a calibrated collimated beam apparatus to obtain results in terms of engineering parameters that may be interpreted in the context of full scale applications (Bolton et al. 2003). It is noted that this process targets primarily the soluble fraction of a contaminant. Results of these studies are not directly applicable to a contaminant found to be primarily associated with the particulate phase.

The goals of this work were thus (1) assessment of treatability of secondary effluent for removal of water soluble organic pollutants by direct use of the UV/H₂O₂ AOP, (2) the effect of typical effluent suspended solids on treatment efficiency, and (3) comparison of the specific UV energy of treatment of this AOP applied to wastewater effluents.

Though the efficiency of the UV/H₂O₂ AOP for removal of organic pollutants is lower when applied to biological effluents than when applied to RO permeates, if the primary contributions to OH scavenging in wastewater are identified, suitable pretreatments that target such components for removal may significantly improve AOP efficiency and avoid over treatment. Though beyond the scope of this work, comparison of alternative treatment schemes involves full economic analysis, of which operating energy is one crucial component.

CHAPTER I: LITERATURE REVIEW

Background: Water, Energy and Reuse

With population growth, traditional water resources are diminishing. Greater conservation and alternative sources are needed to satisfy demand. In more affluent societies, demand is increasingly met by desalination of sea water or the importation of water from distant watersheds, both of which require significant expenditures of energy (Allen et al, 1966; Argo, 1978; Hussein et al., 1999; Shon et al, 2009). As conventional energy resources continue to diminish as well, the production of both power and useful water require simultaneous consideration (Davis et al., 1967; Al-Mutaz, 2001; Forstmeier et al., 2007; Khamis, 2009). In some regions of the world, the situation is either quickly approaching or has already reached a crisis (Gleick, 1993; Darwish et al., 2005).

Many areas of the world are already dependent on desalination of sea water for much of their water needs. Generalized comparisons of water treatment options based on the price of produced water are complex (Blank et al. 2007). Since energy is a major cost component, meaningful comparisons of treatment options may be made on the basis of the specific energy of production, typically expressed in units of kilowatt-hours per cubic meter of treated water. The theoretical minimum energy required to obtain fresh water from seawater has been stated as 0.7kWh/m³ (Shiffler, 2004), but for any practical system it is much higher. Most desalination in the world currently takes place in the Middle East where the primary method of

desalination is by thermal distillation (Suratt et al., 1996). In Kuwait, more than 93% of its fresh water needs are produced using the combination of steam turbines and multi-stage flash (MSF) distillation units in co-generation power desalting plants. The required energy per unit volume for desalination by MSF in Kuwait is 22 kWh/m³ (Darwish et al., 2005), and MSF technology is set to dominate Kuwaiti desalination for several decades to come (Al-Bahou et al., 2007). The second most common method of desalination technology in the Middle East, also used in cogeneration, is multiple-effect evaporation (MEF), reported to consume approximately 9 kWh/m³ (Franquelin et al., 2001). Desalination by electrodialysis is reported to require 7 – 13 kWh/m³ depending on salinity (Turek, 2002), with limited applications restricted to brackish waters (Suratt et al, 1996). However, virtually all new desalination plants utilize reverse osmosis (RO), with reported energy requirements ranging between 2-7 kWh/m³ (Schiffler 2004; Darwish et al., 2005; Fritzmann et al., 2007; Pearce, 2008). These figures indicate only the energy cost involved, and do not include other operating costs such as chemicals for cleaning and disposal of concentrate. Recently, a method of desalination using microbial fuel cells has been reported in which electrical power and desalinated water are produced using bacteria and a source of biodegradable organic matter. Each fuel cell stage was demonstrated to remove up to 90% of the salt content while generating a maximum of 31 W/m^3 , with acetate as the bacterial substrate (Cao et al., 2009).

Considering the energy required in obtaining water by desalination, the incentive for reuse is clear. The reuse of wastewater conserves both water and energy. The

energy requirements of various forms of water and wastewater treatment have been extensively investigated by several firms and reviewed (Pearce, 2008). Below is a table summarizing the main findings for the energy costs involved in producing potable quality water from various sources, including surface water (i.e. rivers, lakes, reservoirs), municipal sewage, brackish water, and seawater. Municipal sewage treatments considered are conventional activated sludge (CAS), and membrane bioreactors (MBR). Pretreatment of RO feed water involves either conventional methods such as lime clarification and sand filtration, or the use of membrane-based microfiltration (MF) or ultrafiltration (UF). It has been argued (Pearce 2008) that the chemical costs of conventional pre-treatment for RO feed water are very high and thus less attractive than membrane based methods, consistent with what has been reported elsewhere (López-Ramirez et al. 2003).

Table 1.1 – Specific energy usage for water and wastewater treatment (Pearce, 2008)				t (Pearce,
	CAS (kWh/m ³)	Pre-treatment (kWh/m ³)	RO system (kWh/m³)	Total (kWh/m³)
Surface water				0.1-0.3
Wastewater	0.3-0.6	0.1-0.2	0.4-0.5	0.8-1.3
Wastewater MBR		0.8-1.0	0.4-0.5	1.2-1.5
Brackish ^a		0.1-0.3	0.6-0.9	0.8-1.0
Brackish ^b		0.3	1.3	1.7
Seawater		0.3-1.0	2.0-3.0	2.3-4.0

a TDS between 930 – 2200 ppm

b Tidal estuary

The energy of activated sludge treatment reported by Pearce is consistent with those reported elsewhere (Evans 1994; Burton 1996). MBR energy requirements

were lower than what was reported for a Kubota pilot system, involving 5 – 6 kWh/m³ (Gil et al. 2010), but consistent with that reported elsewhere (Buer et al. 2010). Requirement of 0.1-0.2 kWh/m³ for MF of CAS effluents is consistent with approximately 0.3 kWh/m³ reported for UF treatment of secondary effluent (Bourgeous et al. 2001).

Based on the available information, the energy requirements for RO desalination of seawater are at least an order of magnitude greater than that typically needed to treat surface waters. It is also apparent that the recycling of wastewater, to comparable quality, requires at least half the energy needed for desalination of sea water. The application of RO based systems to wastewater treatment are thus a justifiable method of alleviating demand on more expensive water sources from an energy perspective, as suggested by some (Schaefer 2001).

In addition to energy expenditure, the implementation of water reuse relies on economic, social, and political considerations (Farooq 1981; Baumann 1983; Davenport 1994; Hartley 2006).

Two high profile examples of reuse applications include the Orange County Groundwater Replenishment System (GRS), in Orange County California, and the NEWater system of Singapore. Both systems were planned well in advance and based on extensive research and development (Allen et al. 1966; Allen 1979; Macpherson 2005; Tortahada 2006; PUB 2008).

Both systems are equipped to treat secondary municipal effluent by means of MF-RO systems, followed by ultraviolet (UV) radiation disinfection. In the case of Orange County, the UV stage delivers sufficient energy to destroy trace chemical contaminants that have not been sufficiently removed by RO, in particular Nnitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) (Plumlee et al. 2008). These above mentioned systems are designed to produce water beyond the requirements of most drinking water standards, and are examples of planned indirect potable reuse.

Most wastewater reclaimed for reuse is used for non-potable applications, such as agricultural irrigation and the cooling of power plants. The required quality for such applications differ from those of potable reuse (Asano, 1986; Rebhun et al., 1988; Lazarova et al., 2005), and in general do not require the quality attained by RO permeates. Energy can be saved by avoiding over treatment of reclaimed water where possible Yet, if the removal of any remaining contaminants in reclaimed wastewater is deemed necessary for a particular reuse application, additional treatment processes should be identified that avoid exceeding the cost of alternative water sources. For some organic pollutants, removal via advanced oxidation is among the few treatment methods available.

Intended use is not the only consideration in determining quality requirements. Where agricultural irrigation exerts the largest demand of water resources, demand is not constant and depends on the agricultural growing cycles. A steady supply of treated water could be stored and drawn upon when needed, suggesting the use of aquifer storage (Asano 1993; Pyne 1995; Angelakis et al. 1999; Asano 2002; Al-Otaibi et al. 2007; Dillon et al. 2006). Treatment requirements before aquifer recharge with reclaimed wastewater merit careful consideration.

Among the complex mixture of dissolved, colloidal, and particulate organic matter present in treated wastewater, much of it is in a highly oxidized state and resistant to further biodegradation (Rickert et al. 1971; Chudoba 1987). The majority of effluent organic matter (EfOM) is composed of soluble microbial products (SMP) originating from the biological treatment process, in addition to smaller amounts of natural organic matter (NOM) originating from the drinking water source (Baker et al. 1999; Shon et al. 2006). This matrix also includes trace contaminants refractory to microbial degradation. Such contaminants are typically present at concentrations on the order of 1 μ g/L and below and are thus often referred to as micropollutants.

Many effects of wastewater effluent upon aquatic ecology are well documented (Welch 1992), and the inability of conventional wastewater treatment to completely remove xenobiotic organic compounds has been investigated (Giger et al. 1981; Petrasek et al. 1983; Byrns 2001, Ternes et al. 2004). New knowledge regarding trace contaminants in wastewater and their fate in the environment continues to grow as analytical capabilities are advanced. The fate of micropollutants remaining in treated wastewater is conventionally left to the hydrological cycle for further breakdown and dilution in the environment. Many emerging contaminants, such as pharmaceuticals and personal care products are found to persist in the environment upon release, though their implications to environmental and human health are the subjects of ongoing research and debate (Daughton et al. 1999; Herberer 2002; et al. 2006; Radke et al. 2010). There is strong evidence that the estrogenicity of wastewater effluents have a profound impact on aquatic ecology (Jobling 1998; Sumpter 2005; Woodling 2006, Kidd et al. 2007, Jeffries et al. 2008). Some have

questioned the merit of advanced treatment of wastewater for removal of micropollutants, highlighting the inverse relationship between water quality and energy consumption (Jones et al. 2007). While information on emerging contaminants continues to grow, knowledge of legacy pollutants from a previous generation is also expanding (Fraser 2010). It is possible that emerging contaminants of today may be legacy contaminants of future generations, and a precautionary approach is suggested by some (Ternes et al. 2004). The spread of wastewater reclamation practices which curtail most, if not all, of the hydrological cycle may encourage a change in thinking on wastewater treatment standards, and an economic shift in what is feasible. In theory, rational changes to infrastructure and behavior may simultaneously improve the efficiency and quality of wastewater reclamation while reducing environmental impact of human activities. Some of the successful pollution prevention practices of industry (Overcash 2002) may prove useful in the treatment of municipal wastewater. Alternative methods to conventional wastewater practices that reduce water demand and minimize environmental impact include source separation and decentralized treatment and recycling (Larsen et al. 1996, 1997, 2001*a*, 2001*b*, 2004; Henze 1997; Otterpohl et al. 2002, 2003; Mauer et al. 2006; Oldenburg et al. 2007; Peter-Fröhlich et al. 2007; Chanan et al. 2009).

Chemical Oxidation of Organic Pollutants in Wastewater

Returning to the question regarding further treatment of secondary effluents, the general question can be asked: if future regulations make it necessary, *how can*

organic micropollutants of concern be removed from a matrix of effluent organic matter?

For those compounds that are resistant to biological degradation, two general approaches may be considered for their removal from water. One approach uses physical removal of pollutants. These include membrane filtration, air stripping, activated carbon adsorption, and ion exchange. These methods do not destroy pollutants but transfer them to another phase, producing a waste stream whose disposal must be addressed. Such waste streams include RO concentrates, exhaust gases, spent carbon and ion exchange resin.

Rather than physical removal, another approach uses the chemical transformation of contaminants by oxidative means, to the extent that the toxicological properties of concern are sufficiently diminished. The ultimate end products of the oxidation of organic matter are carbon dioxide, water, and mineral acids, referred to as mineralization, though complete oxidation is often unnecessary. Conventional wastewater treatment uses biological oxidation to breakdown a large portion of organic matter. Effluent organic matter (EfOM) thus tends to be in a higher state of oxidation (Ricker et al. 1971) and generally less available to microorganisms as a carbon source. Consequently, compounds found in EfOM are less biodegradable and more refractory. Refractory compounds may be further oxidized by physicalchemical methods to disrupt chemical moieties making them more available for subsequent biodegradation. Since biological oxidation is more economical than physical-chemical methods, one method of removing refractory compounds while

minimizing overall treatment cost may involve a physical-chemical unit process located between two biological processes. The first biological process oxidizes easily biodegradable compounds that would compete with the refractory target pollutant during the physical-chemical process. The final biological process treats the biodegradable products formed by the physical-chemical process, should these still be of toxicological significance.

Common oxidants used in water treatment and their standard reduction potential (E°) are listed in Table 1.2.

Table 1.2 – Oxidants used in water treatment and standard reduction potentials (Crittenden, 2005)		
Oxidant	E° (V)	
ОН∙	2.59	
<i>O</i> 3	2.08	
H_2O_2	1.78	
MnO ₄	1.51	
HOCI	1.48	
<i>O</i> ₂	1.27	
ClO ₂	0.80	

It can be seen from Table 1.2 that the strongest oxidants available are the hydroxyl radical (OH•) and ozone (O₃). Though all these oxidants are able to fully mineralize most organic material, the reaction rates are in general too slow under conditions used in water treatment. The highest reaction rates observed are associated with the oxidants OH• and O₃. With most organic compounds, OH• reacts at near diffusion limited of $10^9 \text{ M} \cdot 1 \text{ s} \cdot 1$ (Buxton, 1988). Reactions of O₃ with organic matter are highly selective and reaction rates vary over a wide range ($10^{-2} - 10^9 \text{ M} \cdot 1 \text{ s} \cdot 1$),

depending pH and the molecular structure of organic matter (Hoigné et al. 1976, 1983*a*, 1983*b*, 1985; Huber et al. 2003).

While extensively used for disinfection, HOCl reacts with natural organic matter at rates < 10^{-2} M⁻¹s⁻¹ (Gallard et al. 2002). In addition to low reaction rates, the oxidation of organic matter with HOCl produces undesirable by-products such as trihalomethanes (THMs) and haloacetic acids (HAAs), some of which are suspected human carcinogens. The reactivity of ClO₂ with most organic compounds investigated was found to be very low (< 10^{-2} M⁻¹s⁻¹), with a few exceptions displaying reaction rates on the order of 10^{5} M⁻¹s⁻¹, such as the estrogen 17α -ethinylestradiol (Hoigné et al. 1994; Huber et al. 2005). However, while the use of ClO₂ avoids the formation of THMs and HAAs, the undesirable formation of chlorite (ClO₂⁻) and chlorate (ClO₃⁻) limit the dose of that can be used in water treatment (Crittenden et al, 2005). Little information in the literature can be found regarding the oxidation of organic matter in water treatment using MnO₄⁻ and H₂O₂. Studies involving oxidation of taste and odor compounds found reactivity of these oxidants to be comparable to HOCl (Lalezary et al. 1986; Glaze et al. 1990).

Advanced Oxidation Processes Using Ozone or UV+

Because of the ability of OH• to oxidize most organic compounds unselectively and at near diffusion limited rates under ambient conditions, processes that utilize OH• as the primary oxidant are referred to as Advanced Oxidation Processes (AOPs) (Glaze et al. 1987). Many AOPs that have been investigated (Carey 1992; Oppenländer 2003). The two most viable technologies for large scale water

treatment at this time involve the generation of OH• by means of O_3 or UV radiation in conjunction with H₂O₂, (Swain et al. 2008) referred to as O_3/H_2O_2 and UV/H₂O₂ AOPs respectively.

Advanced Oxidation by O₃/H₂O₂

The addition of O₃ to water, in the presence of organic matter, results in the decomposition of O₃, with an initial rapid phase of decomposition, followed by a slower phase (Staehelin et al. 1985). During the initial rapid phase of decomposition, O₃ decomposition generates OH• radicals (von Gunten 2003). During the slower second phase, O₃ is more stable and may persist for sufficient time to affect microbial disinfection. This second slow phase is typically seen in drinking water applications, where the organic carbon content and reactivity is relatively low. In wastewater, an O₃ residual is generally not observed at conventional doses, and while disinfection may still be achieved, significant doses are required to affect disinfection. The addition of H₂O₂ accelerates the initial decomposition phase, and thus the generation of OH• for contaminant destruction (Staehelin et al. 1982). The presence of increased organic matter and bicarbonate/carbonate alkalinity, consume OH• and thus reduce the efficiency of micropollutant removal, a common issue in all AOPs (Oppenländer 2003).

Because of the relationship between organic content and initial O_3 demand, it is appropriate to normalize dose by dissolved organic carbon, expressed as g O_3 :g DOC (Huber et al. 2005). The addition of H_2O_2 seems to provide little improvement on the use of O_3 during oxidation of wastewater (Snyder et al. 2006). In recent studies of full scale implementations, several pharmaceutical micropollutants were significantly removed at doses of 0.5 – 0.6 g O₃:g DOC (Hollender 2009). During treatment, the formation of the byproducts N-nitrosodiethylamine (NDMA) and bromate were observed. The specific energy consumption was reported as 0.035 kWh/m³ or slightly more than 10% of the specific energy required for conventional wastewater treatment as stated in Table1.1. The formation of bromate and brominated organics is consistently observed during ozonation of wastewater effluent (Kim et al. 2007, Wert et al. 2007). While methods to reduce bromate and other byproducts during ozonation exist (Rengao et al. 1997), such byproducts must be carefully considered. The formation of potentially harmful byproducts is a short coming of ozone based AOPs for many applications (Swain et al. 2008).

Advanced Oxidation by UV/H₂O₂

Generation of OH• by UV/H₂O₂ requires the absorption of photons by molecules of H_2O_2 . While H_2O_2 may be homogeneously distributed in a liquid under irradiation, the capacity of photons to propagate in the liquid is dependent on wavelength and wavelength specific absorption characteristics of the liquid medium. The greater the absorption of the liquid, the more the absorption of photons will be concentrated at the interface between the light source (lamp-sleeve system) and the liquid. Under ideal conditions, complete mixing ensures that all volume elements of the fluid in the reactor will receive the equivalent dose of photons or fluence.

Once photons have been absorbed by H_2O_2 , excited-state molecules of H_2O_2 must cleave and escape the solvent cage before recombination. The solvent cage reduces

the yield of OH• generation to half of that observed in the gas phase (Baxendale 1957), thus producing one radical per UV excited molecule of H_2O_2 . Generated OH• react with most solutes at near diffusion limited rates. The average distance that OH• diffuses in the liquid before reacting has been estimated to be on the order of 1µm or less (Turchi et al. 1990). Thus, the generation by photolysis and use of OH• as an oxidant involves overcoming both photon and mass transfer limitations.

Organic carbon, carbonate, and bicarbonate compete with target pollutants to react with the generated OH_{\bullet} . The fundamental efficiency of the UV/H_2O_2 AOP is thus governed by five main issues:

- absorbance of the liquid
- mixing
- molar absorptivity of H₂O₂
- quantum yield of H₂O₂
- reactivity of target pollutants with OH•
- competition for OH• between target pollutants and all other solutes.

Absorbance of liquid: The absorbtivity of ultrapure water to UV radiation in the range of 200 to 300 nm is very low relative to water containing organic and inorganic solutes (Quickenden et al. 1980). In the presence of solute molecules, photons entering the liquid may encounter a molecule and be absorbed, resulting in either the electronic excitation of the molecule or the breaking of bonds. Excited state molecules may emit a photon and return to the ground state or loose energy non-radiatively (Wayne 1988). Absorption of photons takes place on a time scale of

10⁻¹⁵-10⁻¹⁸ s, and when photons of sufficient energy to break molecular bonds are absorbed, diatomic molecules do so within a time scale of 10⁻¹³-10⁻¹⁴ s, the period of a single molecular vibration. Polyatomic molecules having absorbed such photons may accommodate the absorbed energy more easily and thus persist in an excited state for periods of 10⁻⁸s or more, during which time the absorbed energy may be dissipated without the breaking of bonds (Laidler 1987). Thus in water containing significant amounts of dissolved organic molecules, a significant portion of photons are absorbed and lost as heat. The attenuation of photon flux along the optical path into a non-scattering liquid is expressed by the Beer-Lambert law:

$$I = I_{a}e^{-\alpha'\ell} \tag{1}$$

Where

- *I* is the photon irradiance (Es cm⁻² s⁻¹) exiting the liquid after optical path length *ℓ*
- I_o is initial photon irradiance entering the liquid (Es cm⁻² s⁻¹)
- α' is the base *e* absorption coefficient for the liquid (cm⁻¹)
- *e* is distance into the liquid along the optical path (cm)

The absorption coefficient is a function of the concentration of the dissolved solutes and their respective molar absorptivities (conventionally expressed in base 10):

$$\alpha = \varepsilon_1 C_1 + \varepsilon_2 C_2 + \ldots = \sum \varepsilon_i C_i \tag{2}$$

Where

- α is the base 10 absorptivity (cm⁻¹) and $\alpha'=2.303 \alpha$.
- ε_i is the decadic molar absorptivity of the ith species (M⁻¹cm⁻¹)
- C_{i} is the concentration of the ith species (M)

As natural waters and wastewater effluents are complex mixtures, only the total absorbance alpha is generally measureable. The contribution to the total absorbance by added solutes can be made if the concentration and molar absorptivities are known, as in the case with H_2O_2 . When the dissolved organic carbon (DOC) is known in mg/L, then the specific UV absorbance (SUVA) is equivalent to the value of ε for DOC, with appropriate modification of units.

Photolysis of H₂O₂: The average volumetric rate of photolysis of H₂O₂ by a low pressure UV source can be expressed by the following (see appendix for derivation):

$$r_{photolysus} = -\frac{\phi \cdot \varepsilon \cdot C \cdot I_o \cdot (1 - 10^{-\alpha \ell})}{\alpha \cdot \ell}$$
(3)

Where

- ϕ is the quantum yield of H₂O₂ at 254 nm (mol Es⁻¹)
- ε is the decadic molar absorptivity of H₂O₂ (M⁻¹cm⁻¹)
- C is the concentration of $H_2O_2(M)$
- I_o is the incident photonic irradiance (Es cm⁻² s⁻¹)
- α is total decadic absorptivity of the liquid (cm⁻¹)

ℓ is the depth into the liquid (cm)

When the absorbance is small ($\alpha \ell \ll 1$), the photolysis rate may be expressed as:

$$r_{photolysus} = -\frac{\phi \cdot f \cdot I_o}{\ell} \tag{4}$$

Where f is the fraction of absorbed photons which are absorbed by H₂O₂, and is expressed as $f = \varepsilon \cdot C / \alpha$

A potentially useful feature of the use of UV radiation is that some contaminants are strong absorbers of UV and may be degraded by the action of UV light alone. However, the rate of photolysis of any contaminant is a function of not only the molar absorptivity ε , but also the quantum yield ϕ , which for most substances is relatively low (Stefan et al. 2004). The photolysis rate of any solute is proportional to the term $\phi \cdot \varepsilon$, as seen in equation 3. Table 1.3 shows photochemical data for several micropollutants, as well as H₂O₂, at 254 nm.

Table 1.3 – Photol (Periera et al. 200)	l ysis data for seve 7; Crittenden et al	ral micropollutant 2005)	s and H_2O_2 at 254 nm
	ε	Φ	Φε
	L mol ⁻¹ cm ⁻¹	mol Es ⁻¹	L Es ⁻¹ cm ⁻¹
NDMA	1974	0.3	592
clofibric acid	400	0.0022	1
naproxen	4900	0.0297	146
carbamazepine	6070	0.0366	22
ciprofloxacin	12400	0.0701	869
ketoprofen	15450	0.0904	1397
iohexol	27620	0.1095	3024
H_2O_2	19	1	19

As can be seen from Table 1.3, the compound iohexol and ketoprofen are expected to be particularly labile to UV radiation and thus amenable to removal by UV photolysis. Photolysis has been found to be one of the few effective treatments for the contaminant NDMA (Swain et al. 2008). It is also clear that the low molar absorptivity ε of H₂O₂ at 254 nm is one of the shortcomings of the UV/H₂O₂ AOP, compensated only by the high quantum yield. While the quantum yield of H_2O_2 has been found to be relatively constant over the wavelength range 200 to 300 nm (Baxendale et al. 1957), its molar absorptivity increases in this range with decreasing wavelength (Morgan et al. 1988). It has been suggested that if a suitable source were available, using a wavelength of 220 nm would increase the molar absorptivity of H₂O₂ by five-fold (Carey 1994). However, equation 4 above shows that the photolysis rate increases only if the fraction of photons absorbed by H_2O_2 increases. Since the absorbance of organic matter increases rapidly with decreasing wavelength, the fraction absorbed by H_2O_2 does not significantly increase with decreasing wavelength when significant organic matter is present. It may even decrease. It has also been suggested that the UV/H₂O₂ AOP may be more efficient at higher pH, since hydrogen peroxide's conjugate base HO₂⁻ has a molar absorptivity of 240 M⁻¹cm⁻¹ at 254nm (Andreozzi et al. 1999). However, the high pKa of 11.6 (Jones 1999) makes such pH adjustment costly, and the impact of alkalinity on reducing efficiency becomes more severe at higher pH, as will be discussed below.

The photolysis of H_2O_2 generates OH• with a quantum yield of 1.0 at 254 nm. This is half the theoretical yield of 2 due to the solvent cage effect present in the liquid state. The photolysis of H_2O_2 can be described by:

$$H_2O_2 \xrightarrow{hv} 2OH \bullet$$

Where hv is a photon at 254 nm. The generated OH• react with solute S via hydrogen abstraction or the addition of double bonds to produce more oxidation products S'. The reaction rate is given by the second order hydroxyl radical rate constant for S, $k_{OH,S}$.

$$OH \bullet + S \xrightarrow{k_{OH S}} S'$$

The rate of OH• consumption is proportional to the concentration of all solutes and their respective second order OH• rate constants:

$$r_{concumption} = -(k_1 \cdot [S_1] + k_2 \cdot [S_2] + \cdots) \cdot [OH\bullet] = -(\sum_i k_i \cdot [S_i]) \cdot [OH\bullet]$$
(5)

Where

is the second-order OH• rate constants for the ith solute species S (M⁻¹s⁻¹)

 $[S]_i$ is the concentrations of the ith solute (M)

The summed term $\Sigma k[S]$ is referred to as the OH• scavenging rate and is expressed in units of s⁻¹. The scavenging rate is inversely proportional to the average lifetime of the OH• in water (Hoigné 1997).

When OH_{\bullet} is continuously being generated by photolysis of H_2O_2 and consumed near diffusion limited rates, then the steady-state condition may be assumed. Under this assumption, the steady-state OH_{\bullet} concentration may be determined and is given by the following expression (see appendix for derivation):

$$[OH\bullet]_{ss} = \frac{-\phi \cdot \varepsilon \cdot [H_2O_2] \cdot I_o}{\alpha \cdot \ell \cdot \sum_i k \cdot [S]_i} (1 - e^{-\alpha \ell})$$
(6)

Where

 $[OH\bullet]_{ss}$ is the steady-state concentration of OH• (M)

 $[H_2O_2]$ is the concentration of H_2O_2 in solution (M)

And all other terms as defined previously.

The removal for a contaminant *C* from solution under UV irradiation in the presence of H_2O_2 may then be expressed as:

$$\ln(C/C_o) = -k_{c,OH} \cdot [OH\bullet]_{ss} \cdot t$$
⁽⁷⁾

Where

C is the concentration of the contaminant at time t (M)

*C*_o is the initial concentration of contaminant (M)

 $k_{c,OH}$ is the second order hydroxyl radical rate constant for the

contaminant (M⁻¹s⁻¹)

Equation (7) may also be written as $\ln(C/C_o) = -k't$, where k' is the pseudo-first order rate constant measured experimentally. Knowledge of the second order OH• rate constant $k_{c,OH}$, allows the calculation of $[OH•]_{ss}$.

A useful parameter in the evaluation of AOPs is the specific energy required to remove a contaminant by one order of magnitude (i.e. 90%), and is referred to as the EE/O or electrical energy per order (Bolton et al. 1996), defined as

$$EE / O = \frac{EED / V}{\log(C_i / C_f)}$$
(8)

Where

EED/V is the electrical energy consumed per volume of water treated (kWh/m^3)

C_i is the initial concentration of the pollutant (M)

 C_f is the final concentration of the pollutant (M)

The EE/O is typically expressed in units of kWh/m³-order. The lower value of EE/O, the more efficient the removal process.

While *EE/O* may be measured in practice for actual reactors, prediction of the *EE/O* for an actual reactor based on bench-scale collimated beam studies is difficult without information regarding the fluence distribution of the reactor. For collimated beam studies, treatability of various water matrices may be compared by comparison of the UV energy per order of magnitude reduction of a contaminant (*UVE/O*). The ratio of the *UVE/O* of two matrices will be a reasonable approximation to the ratio of the *EE/O* of the same matrices, under equivalent treatment conditions.

$$UVE / O = \frac{P_{UV} \cdot t / V}{\log(C_i / C_f)}$$
(9)

Where

 P_{UV} is the lamp radiant power at UV wavelengths (kW)

t is the duration of irradiation or exposure (h)

which gives equivalent units for *UVE/O* as for *EE/O*, namely kWh/m³-order. The relation between the two terms will be:

$$EE / O = (1/\eta) \cdot UVE / O \tag{10}$$

Where η is a function of the lamp and reactor efficiencies.

Consideration of water absorbance: One of the factors limiting the efficiency of the UV/H₂O₂ AOP is the small fraction of photons absorbed by H₂O₂. This fraction is maximized in water matrices of low absorbance relative to H₂O₂ at the wavelength considered. Thus, it is not surprising why this process is significantly more effective when applied to RO permeates, for which typical UV transmittance greater than 98% is observed (Chakraborti et al. 2007). Figure 1.1 indicates the fraction of photons absorbed by H₂O₂ as a function of UV transmittance and H₂O₂ dose.





Components of Scavenging: The OH radicals generated by photolysis of H₂O₂ rapidly react with organic matter in the water matrix, described by equation (5) above. Target pollutants react with OH• in competition with all other solutes, and thus the rate of pollutant oxidation is inversely proportional to the scavenging capacity of the matrix. Scavenging capacity may be divided into the organic matter contribution and the contribution due to alkalinity, primarily the bicarbonate ion under neutral conditions. While the OH• rate constant for bicarbonate and carbonate are well known, the contribution to scavenging by the organic matter is due to a complex mixture whose individual components are not readily determined. Consequently, scavenging may be divided into two components, one contribution from alkalinity, which is readily calculated from measured values, and the contribution of the organic matter, which must be determined as a bulk property in most cases. The organic contribution is found by measuring the total scavenging capacity and subtracting the contribution due to alkalinity.

Several comments should be made regarding OH• scavenging by the bicarbonate/carbonate system. The OH• rate constants for HCO_3^- and CO_3^{2-} are 8.5 ×10⁶ M⁻¹s⁻¹ and 3.9 ×10⁸ M⁻¹s⁻¹ respectively (Buxton 1988). While these are of lower magnitude compared with the rate constants of most organic compounds (typically 10^{8} - 10^{10} M⁻¹s⁻¹), the concentration of HCO₃⁻/CO₃²⁻ is usually several orders of magnitude higher than that of organic contaminants. Furthermore, it can be seen that CO_3^{2-} is almost 50 times as reactive as HCO_3^{-} , indicating that higher pH will result in a higher demand for OH radicals by the HCO_3^{-}/CO_3^{2-} system relative to neutral conditions, where virtually no CO_3^{2-} is present. Lastly, the reaction of HCO_3^{--} $/CO_3^{2-}$ with OH• results in the formation of HCO_3^{-} • $/CO_3^{2-}$ • radicals. These radicals are oxidants that will react with organic matter at a wide range of rates (<10³-10⁸ M⁻ 1 s⁻¹) highly dependent on molecular structure and tending to be well below the diffusion limited rates observed for OH• (Chen et al. 1973). Exceptions exist, and organics such as those containing the indole moiety or aniline derivatives react with HCO_3^{-1} at rates on the order of $10^9 M^{-1}s^{-1}$ (Chen et al. 1973, Larson et al. 2009). In

general, the presence of significant alkalinity results in the partial exchange of the near diffusion limited and unselective properties of the OH• radical for a generally much slower and highly selective oxidant.

Few reports of the scavenging capacity of various waters are available in the literature. A few will be cited here in order to illustrate typical magnitudes that may be encountered. Values of the scavenging of natural waters have been reported by one study (Huber et al. 2003), and are summarized in Table 1.4.

Source		Alkalinity ^a (mg/L)	$\Sigma k[S]_i$ (s ⁻¹) × 10 ⁻⁴		
	DOC (mg/L)		DOC	Alkalinity	Total
well water	0.8	130	2.0	5.6	7.6
Seine River ^b	1.3	205	3.2	4.0	7.2
Lake Zurich	1.2	290	3.0	2.5	5.5
Finland lake	3.7	35	<i>9.2</i>	0.7	9.9

^briverbank filtrate taken near Paris

Measured scavenging capacities were found in the range $5.5 - 9.9 \times 10^4$ s⁻¹. It can be seen from Table 1.4 that, in all but one case, comparable contributions to scavenging capacity are made by both organic matter and alkalinity. Only in the high DOC-low alkalinity lake water from Finland does the organic matter dominate scavenging.

Other studies have reported on the scavenging from tertiary wastewater samples.

Effluent samples taken from 8 wastewater treatment plants across five states of the
U.S.A. were found to have scavenging capacities in the range $2.7 - 9.5 \times 10^5 \text{ s}^{-1}$ (Rosario-Ortiz et al. 2008), which are an order of magnitude larger than for the natural waters reported in Table 1.4. Those findings are summarized in Table 1.5, where the contribution of alkalinity and DOC reported have been used to calculate their respective contributions to the scavenging capacity. The alkalinity values are comparable to the natural waters considered above. The level of DOC found in the effluents, while higher, are still within an order of magnitude of those from the natural waters. Thus, the increase in reactivity of organic matter is suspected to be a possible cause of increased scavenging.

Another study of wastewater effluents found scavenging values to be even higher than those in Table 1.5 by one or two orders of magnitude, yet with comparable levels of organic matter and alkalinity (Wert et al. 2009). The cause of these large variations is not known. Based on these examples, for natural waters and wastewater effluents, total scavenging capacity is expected to span the range of 10^4 – 10^6 s⁻¹.

How does the OH• scavenging of RO permeates compare to those of natural waters and wastewater effluents? This can be estimated based on the amount of alkalinity and DOC present in RO permeates and by the typical range of second-order hydroxyl radical rate constants for DOC. Since the organic matter of effluents (i.e. EfOM) are complex mixtures, the rate constant must be determined experimentally, yet it is possible to estimate the reasonable range for EfOM rate constants.

Table 1.5-Scavenging capacity of wastewater effluents (Rosario-Ortiz 2008)					
			Σk[S] _i (s ⁻¹) × 10 ⁻⁵		
WWTP	DOC (mg/L)	Alkalinity (mg/L)	DOC	Alkalinity	Total
1	05	224	g 2	0.4	86
1	63	178	5.8	0.4	6.0
2	6.6	133	25	0.3	27
5 4	6.4	131	2.5	0.2	2.7
5	11	98	9.3	0.2	<u>9.5</u>
6	20	222	4.5	0.4	4.9
7	8.7	161	7.7	0.3	8.0
8	7.1	206	3.6	0.4	4.0

While most rate constants are reported in units of M⁻¹s⁻¹ (Buxton et al. 1988), experimental work has been done using NOM isolates, as well as humic and fulvic acids from the Suwannee river (Westeroff et al. 1998, Goldstone et al. 2002) for which rate constants are reported in units of L mgC⁻¹s⁻¹ as a result of the manner in which DOC is measured.

Rate constants of low molecular weight organics may serve to illustrate the rate constants to be expected, particularly in light of reports indicating that hydrophilic low molecular weight organics form a significant part of dissolved organic matter in biological effluents (Fujita et al. 1996, Ma et al. 2001). Table 1.6 lists several organic species with their rate constants converted to units of L mgC⁻¹s⁻¹. The resulting rate constants are comparable to those of isolated humic substances and natural organic matter on a per carbon basis. Based on these data, a reasonable range for reactivity of organic matter with the OH• radical can be taken as 10³ - 10⁵ L mg⁻¹s⁻¹.

Table 1.6-Second order rate constants of low molecular weight organics				
Compound	MW	$k_{OH,C}$ a	k _{OH,C}	
	g mol-1	M ⁻¹ s ⁻¹	$L mg C^{-1} s^{-1}$	
cetate	59	8.5 × 107	3.5×10^{3}	
ormate	45	3.2×10^{8}	2.7×10^{4}	
ormaldehyde	30	1.0×10^{9}	8.3 × 104	
xalate	89	7.7 × 10 ⁶	3.2×10^2	
nalonate	102	3.0×10^{8}	8.3 × 10 ³	
yruvate	87	3.1×10 ⁷	8.6×10^2	
actate	89	3.0×10^{8}	8.3 × 10 ³	
ropionate	73	8.2×10^{8}	2.3×10^{4}	
lucose	180	1.5×10^{9}	2.1×10^{4}	
alactose	180	2.0×10^{9}	2.8×10^{4}	
lucuronate	193	3.0×10^{9}	4.2×10^{4}	
R fulvic acid b	-	-	2.7 × 104	
R humic acid b	-	-	1.9×10^{4}	
R fulvic acid ^c	-	-	3.1×10^{4}	
R ⁻ humic acid ^c	-	-	6.8×10^4	
IOM ^c	-	-	3.0×10^4	
cetate ormate ormaldehyde xalate nalonate yruvate actate ropionate lucose alactose lucuronate R fulvic acid b R humic acid b R fulvic acid c R humic acid c	g mol ⁻¹ 59 45 30 89 102 87 89 73 180 180 193 - - - - - - - - - - -	$M^{-1}s^{-1}$ 8.5 × 10 ⁷ 3.2 × 10 ⁸ 1.0 × 10 ⁹ 7.7 × 10 ⁶ 3.0 × 10 ⁸ 3.1 × 10 ⁷ 3.0 × 10 ⁸ 8.2 × 10 ⁸ 1.5 × 10 ⁹ 2.0 × 10 ⁹ 3.0 × 10 ⁹	$L mg C^{-1} s^{-1}$ 3.5 × 10 ³ 2.7 × 10 ⁴ 8.3 × 10 ⁴ 3.2 × 10 ² 8.3 × 10 ³ 8.6 × 10 ² 8.3 × 10 ³ 2.3 × 10 ⁴ 2.1 × 10 ⁴ 2.8 × 10 ⁴ 4.2 × 10 ⁴ 2.7 × 10 ⁴ 1.9 × 10 ⁴ 3.1 × 10 ⁴ 6.8 × 10 ⁴ 3.0 × 10 ⁴ 3.0 × 10 ⁴	

^a Buxton et al. 1988, ^b Goldstone et al. 2002, ^c Westerhoff et al. 1999. SR = Suwannee River

In order to visualize the effect of alkalinity, DOC, and the reactivity of the DOC on scavenging capacity, a series of plots are shown in Figures 1.2 -1.4. The regions on the plots associated with RO permeates include DOC amounts less than 0.5 mg/L, (Qin et al. 2005, Public Utilities Board of Singapore 2010) and alkalinity amounts less than 10 - 20 mg/L as $CaCO_3$ (Glucina et al. 2000, Padilla et al. 2010).

Figure 1.2-Contribution to hydroxyl scavenging $\Sigma k[S]_i$ from alkalinity and dissolved organic carbon at pH 7 and $k_{OH,DOC} = 10^3 L mg C^{-1} s^{-1}$



 $k_{OH,DOC} = 10^3 L mg C^{-1} s^{-1}$

Figure 1.3-Contribution to hydroxyl scavenging $\Sigma k[S]_i$ from alkalinity and dissolved organic carbon at pH 7 and $k_{OH,DOC} = 10^4 L \text{ mg } C^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$



Alkalinity (mg/L as CaCO₃) DOC (mg/L as C)

 $k_{OH,DOC} = 10^4 L mg C^{-1} s^{-1}$

Figure 1.4-Contribution to hydroxyl scavenging $\Sigma k[S]_i$ from alkalinity and dissolved organic carbon at pH 7 and $k_{OH,DOC} = 10^5 L$ mg C⁻¹ s⁻¹



 $k_{OH,DOC} = 10^5 L mg C^{-1} s^{-1}$

The importance of alkalinity on the scavenging capacity of a water matrix is highly dependent on the reactivity of the organic matter.

Treatment schemes for the removal of specific contaminants

The use of RO in the reclamation of wastewater produces an effluent quality which greatly exceeds the requirements of many applications. Disposal of the concentrate is often costly and challenging. As an additional barrier to pollutants of concern, an AOP may follow the RO process. As the rejection of organic compounds, carbonate, and bicarbonate during reverse osmosis greatly increase the efficiency of the UV/ H₂O₂ AOP, this has been an attractive combination for some reuse applications (Deshmukh 2004).. While application of the UV/H_2O_2 AOP directly to secondary or tertiary effluents requires more energy, the cost of additional energy may be offset by the high electrical and chemical costs of RO, as well as the cost of concentrate disposal. Thus the quantification of the required energy for comparable treatment of different water matrices is practical of interest. Furthermore, as the removal of suspended solids by MF is considered part of the pretreatment to RO, the influence of MF is of interest when considering AOP applications directly upon biological effluents. These energy considerations are summarized in Figure 1.5, in treatment schemes I to III. In scheme IV, alternative pretreatments are considered, particularly those that reduce the bulk absorbance and the amount of dissolved organic matter.

Figure 1.5-Treatment schemes and energy required for equivalent treatment with respect to a particular contaminant, i.e. $log(C_i/C_f)$.



Effect of Suspended Solids on the UV/ H₂O₂ AOP

The application of MF to biological effluents removes particulate matter by sieve action, typically in the size range of $0.1 - 2 \mu m$ and larger (Tchobanoglous et al 2003). This effectively reduces the measureable amount of suspended solids to below 1 mg L⁻¹. In the effluents of activated sludge systems, such particles consist of biological floc, composed of bacterial cell aggregates, extracellular polymeric substance (EPS) and cell remnants in a porous network (Steiner et al. 1976, Smith et al. 1984, Andreadakis 1993). Individual floc size ranges from 1 to 100 μ m or more and is typically measured on a dry weight basis as total suspended solids (TSS).

No information could be found in the literature regarding the effect of suspended solids on scavenging of OH• radicals during advanced oxidation. Given the generally diffusion limited reaction rates of OH• radicals with organic compounds, it can be reasoned that at the concentration of organics found in wastewater, that the OH• radical diffuses a distance of the order of 0.01 to 1 μ m (Turchi et al. 1990). Thus, only those radicals generated within the immediate vicinity of the floc are affected by the presence of suspended solids. For the range of TSS found in conventional secondary effluent, the fractional volume occupied by floc is negligible compared to the volume of the bulk liquid. Thus the presence of suspended solids is predicted to have no effect on the scavenging capacity of the effluent and the steady-state concentration of OH• radicals will depend only on the alkalinity, dissolved organic matter concentration and reactivity. In such a case, the MF process is predicted to have no effect on reducing scavenging capacity of the water. However, MF should slightly improve the UV absorbance, and thus increase the fraction of photons absorbed by H₂O₂. For cost comparison purposes, the AOP savings on lower energy and peroxide required to deliver an equally effective fluence to the microfiltrate should be compared to the additional capital and operating cost associated with the microfiltration process.

CHAPTER II: MATERIALS AND METHODS

Experimental Design

The research question of this work is:

Does the removal of suspended solids from biologically treated wastewater effluent improve the removal efficiency of organic pollutants by the UV/H_2O_2 AOP?

To answer this question, bench scale studies were made of actual wastewater samples using a collimated beam apparatus and the use of the OH• radical probe compound, para-chlorobenzoic acid (pCBA). Treatment of unfiltered and microfiltered samples were made to measure the impact of suspended solids on treatment.

Wastewater samples were obtained from three wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs) in the city of London Ontario Canada during discreet sampling events on the same day. Two WWTPs (Pottersburg and Adelaide) use conventional activated sludge treatment and the third plant (Oxford) is a retrofitted membrane bioreactor (MBR). Grab samples were collected following clarification and prior to disinfection for all three plants. Samples from the conventional plants were used to produce microfiltered samples in the lab. This resulted in five distinct water matrices available for study; two conventional secondary effluents, their corresponding microfiltrates, and the MBR effluent.

These five waters were immediately characterized for total suspended solids (TSS), chemical oxygen demand (COD), dissolved organic carbon (DOC), alkalinity, and UV absorbance at 254 nm (A₂₅₄). Samples were then stored in brown glass bottles at 4°C till use. The probe compound pCBA was spiked into the aliquots of the samples prior to UV/H₂O₂ treatment.

All five waters were tested in triplicate using the same collimated beam procedure to quantify the removal of pCBA with time. Dark reactions were simultaneously monitored for all subsamples. With TSS < 1 mg/L for microfiltered samples, a two level factorial experiment was performed with TSS as the factor. The treatment plants are treated as experimental blocks, with the MBR permeate available for comparison.

The measured removal of pCBA with time at a known H_2O_2 concentration was used to calculate the steady-state OH• concentration $[OH•]_{ss}$. The $[OH•]_{ss}$ and other known quantities are used to calculate the scavenging capacity $\Sigma k_i[S]_i$. The rate constant for the probe compound removal, as well as the calculate scavenging for each water matrix are the experimental responses to be compared. Using a standardized collimated beam apparatus, it is possible to calculate the *UVE/O* for pCBA removal in each of the five waters serving as an additional response and a useful parameter to use in making comparisons in engineering terms.

Sampling and Sample Preparation

Ten liter grab samples were gathered in autoclaved carboys, after rinsing in the water to be collected. Samples from all three plants were taken between 11am and 1pm on August 4th 2009, with no influence of storm events effecting plant operations.

Samples were transported to the lab and approximately 3 liters of microfiltrate was produced by vacuum filtration using prewashed 0.22 µm nominal pore-size nylon filter pads (Millipore GNWP) in 50 ml portions. Each filter pad was prewashed with approximately 200 ml of deionized water prior to use. Including microfiltrates for Pottersburg and Adelaide effluents, approximately 2 liters of each of the five waters was stored at 4°C.

Samples of all five waters were measured for COD, DOC, and A_{254} . Microfiltrates were not tested for TSS or alkalinity, as microfiltration was found to produce TSS values below the detection abilities of the TSS test (<1mg/L). Tests also found that microfiltration did not affect any measureable change in alkalinity or pH.

A 100 ml aliquot of each sample was produced with a spike of pCBA stock solution to produce the appropriate initial probe compound concentration (400 to 500 ppb). The sample was allowed to equilibrate to room temperature before addition of H_2O_2 and the initiation of collimated beam experiments.

Wastewater Characterization

Chemical Oxygen Demand

The chemical oxygen demand (COD) of each of the five experimental waters was measured in duplicate using the colorimetric method with the Hach COD heating block, Hach DR 2000 Spectrometer , and premade COD reagent vials for the ultralow COD range (0-100mg/L). Pthalic acid stock solution was used as a COD standard and ultrapure MilliQ water was used for COD blanks.

Total Suspended Solids

The total suspended solids (TSS) of the unfiltered and the MBR effluents were measured using Standard Method 2540 with 500ml of sample and 1µm nominal pore size filters (Fischer Scientific CG) prewashed with deionized water and dried in an oven at 100C°. The TSS measurements were performed in triplicate. It was found that the microfiltrates produced water with TSS values less than 1mg/L. The MBR effluent was also found to be free of measureable TSS.

Dissolved Organic Carbon

Dissolved organic carbon (DOC) was measured using the Shimadzu TOC analyzer after filtering all samples through $0.22\mu m$ nominal pore size filters. The analyzer uses the UV persulfate method of Standard Method 5310. Due to the potential incompatibility of particulate matter with the instrument, the TOC of the samples was not measured.

Alkalinity

Alkalinity was measured using Standard Method 2320 for raw effluents gathered from all three WWTPs. Confirmation was made that microfiltration in the lab did not alter the alkalinity or pH of the sample. Standard 0.2 N sulfuric acid was diluted in MilliQ water to 0.02 N and used to titrate 100 mL of sample to a pH of 4.5. The sample being titrated was kept mixed by a magnetic mixer and the pH was monitored using a pH meter (Oakton Vernon Hills II) suspended in the liquid. Titrations were performed in triplicate for each of the three effluents and the results reported in mg/L as CaCO₃.

Measurement of H₂O₂

The measurement of H_2O_2 was performed by the triiodide method (Klassen et al. 1994). Reagents were added to 1ml of sample and after a time of approximately 60 seconds, the resulting I_3^- was measured spectrophotometrically at 351 nm (Hach DR 5000). Laboratory grade H_2O_2 solution of 30% w/w (Sigma Aldrich) was kept at 4C° and used for all experiments after proper dilution in sample or ultrapure water. Ultrapure MilliQ water was used for all sample blanks.

Measurement of para-Chlorobenzoic Acid

Measurement of the OH• radical probe compound para-chlorobenzoic acid (pCBA) was performed using reverse phase HPLC with UV photodetection (Waters Millford MA) and using a 25 cm long C18 column (Sigma Aldrich). Isocratic elution was performed using a mobile phase composition of 48 % acetonitrile and 52% water acidified to pH 2 with phosphoric acid. The HPLC grade acetonitrile was obtained from Caledon Chemicals (Missisauga ON). The mobile phase was made using MilliQ water. Detection of pCBA was performed at 238 nm. Peak curve area was used to quantify pCBA concentration. Calibration curves were obtained using dilutions of stock lab grade pCBA solution. Wastewater samples to be analyzed for pCBA following collimated beam treatment were microfiltered with 0.22 micron filters (Millipore) directly into 1ml HPLC sample vials and placed in the refrigerator until the time of analysis, at most 3 hours from the time of sampling.

Collimated Beam Apparatus and Experiments

A low pressure high output mercury amalgam lamp (Heraeus Hanau Germany) was used to produce a quasi-collimated beam apparatus according to procedures described in detail elsewhere (Bolton et al. 2003). The samples to be irradiated were placed in 5.5 cm inner diameter recrystalization dishes on a magnetic stir plate and adjustable jack stand, placed at the center of a collimating tube below the lamp housing (see Figure 2.1).



In order to accurately determine the fluence delivered to a liquid sample irradiated by the collimated beam, the central irradiance of the beam at the liquid surface must be measured and several calibration factors must be determined. These include factors to compensate for the non-uniformity of the irradiance across the irradiated liquid surface (Petri Factor), loss of energy due to reflection at the liquid surface (Reflection Factor), spatial spreading of the beam with depth of penetration (Divergence Factor), and the attenuation of light with depth of penetration due to absorbance (Water Factor), described in detail elsewhere (Bolton et al. 2003).

The irradiance of the collimated lamp light at 254nm was measured using a calibrated IL-1700 radiometer (International Light Peabody MA) with 230E detector, and with the calibration plane of the detector placed at the intended height of the liquid surface.

The scavenging capacity of a wastewater sample was measured as follows. An aliquot of 100 ml of sample was taken from refrigerated storage, placed in a volumetric flask and allowed approximately 20 minutes to equilibrate to room temperature. Known volumes of stock pCBA and H₂O₂ solutions were delivered to the sample using calibrated micropipettes and mixed. Approximately 0.8mL of this sample was placed in an HPLC vial in order to measure the initial pCBA concentration actually obtained. The initial H₂O₂ concentration and absorbance was measured. As H₂O₂ contributes to the absorbance, the absorbance of the sample should be measured after H₂O₂ addition for the purposes of accurate fluence calculation. The sample is divided between two recrystalization dishes. One dish will

be irradiated with the collimated beam and one dish will be stirred in absence of UV irradiation in order to monitor any dark reactions. The depth of the liquid in the irradiated dish is recorded. A timer is used to mark the start of the irradiation and approximately 0.8 ml samples are withdrawn from each dish by pipette at approximately 10 minute intervals until the end of the irradiation. Each sample is placed in a labeled HPLC vial. The peak area of the pCBA chromatograph at 238 nm is used to compute the concentration of pCBA for each time corresponding to dark and light reactions. At the end of the irradiation, the final absorbance and H₂O₂ concentration is calculated for both light and dark reactions. The procedure is repeated in triplicate for each wastewater for which the scavenging term is to be determined.

Data Analysis

Using the measured irradiance and calculated collimated beam calibration factors, the fluence delivered to each sample can be calculated. Using the HPLC calibration curve for pCBA, the concentration of the probe compound can be calculated at each sampling time for both light and dark reactions. Assuming pseudo-first order kinetics and steady-state conditions for the OH• radical, [OH•]_{ss} is calculated from the slope of each curve. The scavenging term corresponding to each pCBA curve is computed by a curve fitting optimization routine using the Excel solver and the theoretical expression relating [OH]_{ss} with scavenging and measured parameters.

Preliminary- Experiments and Qualitative Observations

Before beginning collimated beam experiments, it was of interest to know whether significant removal of trace organic pollutants from unfiltered secondary effluents could be observed with this method using reasonable irradiation times and H₂O₂ doses. The laboratory grade pharmaceutical acetaminophen (Sigma-Aldrich) was spiked into freshly collected secondary effluents from the Pottersburg WWTP, and dosed with 10 mg/L of H₂O₂ before being irradiated for one hour under the collimated beam. The initial and final concentrations of acetaminophen were measured using liquid chromatography with UV detection at 230 nm and all other conditions equivalent to those described for measurement of the probe compound pCBA. Removal of acetaminophen was approximately 30% after an irradiation time of 40 minutes.

Due to concern that H_2O_2 is unstable in the presence of large amounts of organic matter, it was of interest to know whether a significant demand in the H_2O_2 would be observed upon dosing in unfiltered secondary effluent, as is observed for other oxidants such as chlorine. Unfiltered and microfiltered effluent were dosed with H_2O_2 at amounts on the order anticipated during actual collimated beam experiments. No instantaneous demand was observed in either microfiltered or unfiltered effluents. Over the course of 2 hours of agitation on a stir plate, the amount of H_2O_2 in the microfiltered samples showed no change. The H_2O_2 level in the unfiltered effluent showed a gradual decrease on a scale of 1 mg/L over the

course of three hours, after an initial dose of approximately 10 mg/L . When these effluent samples were kept in sealed flasks in the dark at 4°C for 24 hours, no change in H₂O₂ concentration was observed in the microfiltered effluent, whereas no remaining H₂O₂ was detected in the unfiltered sample. Since the amount of dissolved organic matter was approximately 5 mg/L in these effluents and the suspended solids were approximately 10 mg/L, the above observations suggest that amount of organic matter in the samples does not explain the difference in H₂O₂ stability. These observations may be explained by higher reactivity of organic matter in suspended solids towards H₂O₂ relative to the reactivity of dissolved organic matter for H₂O₂, or by the presence of inorganic impurities in suspended solids that are catalytically active in the decomposition of H₂O₂.

Scattering: In order to determine the fluence (UV dose) provided to a particular water matrix, accurate knowledge of the matrix absorbance is required. It has been shown that for high levels of suspended solids, significant scattering of light at UV wavelengths take place, thus increasing the apparent absorbance when standard single pass spectrophotometers are used (Linden et al. 1998; Mamane et al. 2006). However, such scattered light is still germicidal and is still able to contribute to photolysis of H₂O₂ and chemical contaminants, and thus should be included in the calculation of fluence. Measurement of absorbance with compensation for scattered light is performed with the use of an integrating sphere. The contribution of scattering to the apparent absorbance measurement was measured for secondary effluent used in this study. A Cary 100 spectrophotometer (Varian, Palo Alto CA) mounted with an integrating sphere (Lab Sphere, North Sutton NH) was used with a

1 cm quartz cuvette placed in the center of the sphere to exclude scattered light from the absorbance measurement, and in front of the sphere, along the optical path length to the detector, in order to include the scattered light for the absorbance reading. Unfiltered secondary effluent with a TSS of approximately 10 mg/L was used. Using five replicates each, the absorbance excluding scattering was 0.114 ± 0.005 cm⁻¹ (77.0 ± 0.8 %UVT) and including scattering was found to be 0.115 ± 0.002 cm⁻¹ (76.7 ± 0.4 %UVT). No significant scattering was observed for the level of TSS used in this work (< 10 mg/L).

Since the measurement of the probe compound involves the use of HPLC, all unfiltered effluent samples are microfiltered using a 0.45 μ m filter before introduction into the sample vial for injection. To verify that no significant portion of the probe compound pCBA would be removed by sorption to the suspended solids during the exposures, an experiment was performed in which approximately 300 μ g/L pCBA was spiked into ultrapure water (18 M Ω cm), 0.22 μ m filtered secondary effluent, and unfiltered secondary effluent with an approximate suspended solids concentration of 10 mg/L. All three water qualities were agitated on mixing plates in parallel for three hours and samples taken at intervals to measure the concentration of pCBA present. No difference in pCBA concentration was observed after agitation for several hours, regardless of the water type. From this it can be concluded that no significant loss of the probe compound occurs due to adsorption during the time span of the experiments.

CHAPTER III: RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS

Wastewater Characterization

Samples collected from three London Ontario WWTPs were brought in carboys to the lab for microfiltration and analysis. All tests were performed in either duplicate or triplicate. Table 3.1 presents a summary of wastewater characteristics.

Table 3.1-Summary of water quality parameters						
	COD	TSS	DOC	Alkalinity	A_{254} /% T	pН
Water	mg/L	mg/L	mg/L	mg/L a	<i>cm</i> ⁻¹	
Matrix						
CAS ₁	63	7.5	4.6	103	0.209 / 62	7.1
$CAS_1 + MF$	55	<1	4.6	103	0.115 / 77	7.1
CAS ₂	70	10	4.9	121	0.143 / 71	7.0
$CAS_2 + MF$	55	<1	4.9	121	0.104 / 79	7.0
MBR	48	<1	4.2	38	0.127 / 75	6.7
a expressed as CaCO ₃ ,						

Results of Collimated Beam Experiments

The concentration of the probe compound pCBA was monitored for all five water matrices during collimated beam experiments run in triplicate. Both light and dark reactions were monitored and raw data are tabulated in Appendix B.

Pottersburg: The Pottersburg Water Pollution Control Plant is a conventional activated sludge (CAS) WWTP unfiltered final effluent was subjected to the UV/H_2O_2 by collimated beam after being dosed with approximately 13 mg/L of H_2O_2 and being spiked with approximately 300 µg/L of pCBA. The removal of pCBA was

monitored in the sample being irradiated, and the experiments performed in

triplicate. The results are presented in Figures 3.1 and Table 3.2.



Table 3.2 – First order rate constants for removal of pCBA from unfiltered secondary effluent (CAS₁) for a H_2O_2 dose of 13 mg/L

k _{pCBA} × 10 ⁻⁴ (cm²/m])	run 1	run 2	run 3
Experiments (R ²)	12 ± 2 (0.87)	15 ± 1 (0.96)	15 ± 1 (0.98)
Average	14 ± 2		



Figure 3.2- The removal of the probe compound pCBA from microfiltered effluent from CAS_1 dosed with 13 mg/L H₂O₂.

Table 3.3 – First order rate constants for removal of pCBA from microfiltered secondary effluent (CAS₁ + MF) for a H_2O_2 dose of 13 mg/L

k _{pCBA} × 10 ⁻⁴ (cm²/m])	run 1	run 2	run 3
Experiments (R²)	11 ± 1 (0.98)	23±2 (0.95)	31 ± 1 (0.98)
Average	22±2		

Rate constant values shown in the tables indicate the regression error for each run and their addition in quadrature for the average value. The removal rate of pCBA can be expressed in terms of the fluence-based pseudofirst order rate constant (cm^2/mJ).

The microfiltered effluent from Pottersburg was subjected to the same treatment as above, with the results presented in Figure 3.2 and Table 3.3.

Adelaide: The Adelaide WWTP final effluent was sampled on the same day and treated by the same method as the Pottersburg effluent. The unfiltered final effluent was monitored for pCBA removal as above. The results are presented in Figure 3.3 and Table 3.4 for filtered and Figure 3.4 and Table 3.5 for microfiltered samples.



Table 3.4 – First order rate constants for removal of pCBA from unfiltered secondary effluent (CAS₂) for a H_2O_2 dose of 13 mg/L

k _{pCBA} × 10 ⁻⁴ _(cm²/mJ)	run 1	run 2	run 3
Experiments (R ²)	19 ± 1 (0.96)	29 ± 1 (0.98)	23 ± 1 (0.98)
Average	24± 2		



Table 3.5 – First order rate constants for removal of pCBA from microfiltered secondary effluent (CAS_2+MF) for a H_2O_2 dose of 13 mg/L

k _{pCBA} × 10 ⁻⁴ (cm²/mJ)	run 1	run 2	run 3
Experiments (R²)	23 ± 1 (0.99)	24 ± 2 (0.96)	9 ± 1 (0.91)
Average	18 ± 2		





Table 3.6 – First order rate constants for removal of pCBA from membrane bioreactor (MBR) effluent for a H_2O_2 dose of ~6.5 mg/L				
k _{pCBA} × 10 ⁻⁴ (cm²/m])	run 1	run 2	run 3	
Experiments (R²)	10 ± 1 (0.99)	7 ± 1 (0.94)	10 ± 1 (0.95)	
Average	9 ± 1			

Oxford : The Oxford WWTP final effluent was also sampled for the same tests. The Oxford WWTP had been retrofitted one year prior to a membrane bioreactor (MBR) operation. For the collimated beam tests, the H_2O_2 dose of 13 mg/L resulted in a rapid removal of pCBA such that only two samples could be captured on the same time scale before the concentration of pCBA decreased below the limit of quantitation (approximately 50 ppb). Thus in order to obtain sufficient data capture for the purpose OH• radical scavenging capacity, the concentration of H_2O_2 was decreased by half to 6.5 mg/L. The results are presented in Figure 3.5 and Table 3.6.

A general trend in the pCBA data observed for the two CAS effluents and their corresponding microfiltrates, are a high degree of repeatability for the experiments using CAS samples, and relatively higher amount of scatter for the microfiltrates. Because the microfiltrates were produced at one time, homogeneous subsamples are expected. No cause for this discrepancy was identified.



* MBR runs used half the H_2O_2 dose.



Table 3.7 – Estimates of hydroxyl radical scavenging and contribution due to alkalinity

Water matrix	Alkalinity (mM HCO3 ⁻)	Σki[S]i a (s ⁻¹) × 104	k[HCO3 ⁻]/Σk _i [S]i
CAS ₁			
Run1	2.1	7.2	0.25
Run2	2.1	6.2	0.29
Run3	2.1	5.2	0.35
Average		6.2	0.29±0.05
$CAS_1 + MF$			
Run1	2.1	6.7	0.27
Run2	2.1	2.1	0.86
Run3	2.1	0.96	1.88
Average		3.3	0.99±0.81
CAS ₂			
Run1	2.4	3.3	0.64
Run2	2.4	1.9	1.11
Run3	2.4	1.8	1.17
Average		2.3	0.94±0.28
$CAS_2 + MF$			
Run1	2.4	1.8	1.17
Run2	2.4	1.9	1.11
Run3	2.4	<i>9.2</i>	0.23
Average		4.0	0.81±0.51
MBR			
Run1	0.8	3.2	0.20
Run2	0.8	5.4	0.12
Run3	0.8	3.0	0.22
Average		3.9	0.19±0.05
^a total scavenging	including bicarbo	nate_	





Based on the alkalinity values and the pH, the carbonate species concentrations may be determined and their contribution to the scavenging estimated. At the pH of the samples, the carbonate concentration can be assumed zero and the alkalinity composed entirely of bicarbonate. The second order hydroxyl radical rate constant for HCO₃⁻ is 8.5x10⁶ M⁻¹s⁻¹. The scavenging contributed by HCO₃⁻ is shown in Table 3.7 in relation to the observed total scavenging in each run.

Table 3.8-Summary of results (average ± standard deviation, n=3)					
Water Matrix	К _{РСВА} (ст²/mJ) ×10⁻⁴	[OH] _{ss} (M) ×10 ⁻¹³	Σk[S]i (s ⁻¹) ×104	UVE/O ^{a,b} (kWh m ⁻³ order ⁻¹)	
CAS1	13 ± 2	4.4 ± 0.6	6 ± 1	0.31 ± 0.04	
CAS1+MF	22 ± 1	8 ± 4	3 ± 1	0.2 ± 0.1	
CAS2	22 ± 2	7 ± 1	2.3 ± 0.8	0.21 ± 0.05	
CAS2+MF	19±9	7±3	4 ± 4	0.2 ± 0.1	
MBR	9 ± 2	<i>3.4 ± 0.6</i>	4 ± 1	0.4 ± 0.1	
^a relative to pCBA ^b H ₂ O ₂ dose halved for MBR experiments					

Discussion

Reviewing the results presented in Tables 3.7 and 3.8, a few comments can be made. A means comparison of the UVE/O of filtered and unfiltered results via the t-test shows no statistical difference at the 95% confidence interval. With *n=3* for each matrix, means comparisons are expected to have low sensitivity to actual differences. But based on physical arguments presented earlier, the removal of suspended solids is not expected to produce a substantial difference in scavenging capacity and thus efficiency of the UV/H₂O₂ AOP for biological effluents. The amount of suspended solids in the typical range observed in actual effluents does not appear to substantially increase the scavenging of OH• radicals, though the slight increase in UV absorbance caused by floc does increase the amount of energy required to produce the same fluence. Thus the minor effect of UV absorbance on the AOP efficiency may be observed if more sensitive experiments are performed.

The total observed scavenging of the various waters tested show values consistent with Figures 1.3 and 1.4, namely that the reactivity of the effluent organic matter should be on the order of 10³-10⁴ L mg⁻¹ s⁻¹. This is also consistent with the rate constants expected for a number of typical low molecular weight organic compounds in wastewater listed in Table 1.6.

Alkalinity is a significant contribution to scavenging in all five water matrices. In particular, alkalinity dominates the scavenging in both effluents of the CAS₂ plant. Since the DOC of this plant is comparable to the others, the possibility that the reactivity of the DOC in this effluent is lower than the others cannot be excluded. In the case of the MBR effluent, for which alkalinity was low, the scavenging is comparable to the other effluents, suggesting the possibility that the soluble organic material from the MBR is of higher reactivity.

It has been reported elsewhere that the observed OH scavenging of wastewater is a function of molecular weight distribution of organic matter, with the most reactive fraction being that with molecular weight less than 1kDa (Dong et al. 2010). The EfOM of the MBR plant sampled may have a significantly different molecular weight distribution as compared to the other two conventional plants.

Additionally, nitrite has a high reactivity with OH radicals, 1.0×10^{10} L mol⁻¹ s⁻¹ (Buxton et al. 1988), but was not measured in this study. It is highly likely that significant differences in degree of nitrification existed between the plants at the time of sampling, with consequently varying amounts of nitrite in the effluent. For scavenging values on the order of 10^4 s⁻¹, a nitrite concentration of 0.01 mg/L would contribute approximately 10% of the observed scavenging. Thus, OH scavenging may be very sensitive to nitrite concentrations, particularly in the absence of denitrification. Future studies of AOP in wastewater should account for possible contribution of scavenging by nitrite. However, it is known that nitrite is readily oxidized to nitrate by chlorine during disinfection of wastewater, and that a chlorine residual forms only after the stoichiometric nitrite demand has been met (Snoeyink et al. 1980). The same may be true of the oxidation of nitrite by hydrogen peroxide. It has been reported that during the application of the Fenton reaction to landfill leachate, that the hydrogen peroxide alone was able to oxidize nitrite to nitrate (Kang et al. 2000).

The annual performance reports for the year 2009 for the wastewater treatment plants used in this study have been made available by the City of London Ontario on the World Wide Web (City of London Sewage Treatment 2010). Weekly measurements were made for ammonia, nitrate, and alkalinity in the effluents of the three plants. The trends seen in the period from July to October 2009 confirm the possibility of varying degrees of nitrification. The effluent ammonia levels were all within 0.001 to 0.008 mg-N/L. The nitrate levels at CAS1 (Pottersburg) and CAS2 (Adelaid) averaged around 10 and 15 mg-N/L respectively. The MBR plant (Oxford) had the highest average nitrate value at about 25 mg-N/L between July and October, and also the lowest ammonia effluent value of 0.001 mg-N/L. These differences in nitrification were further confirmed by the average alkalinity values for Pottersburg, Adelaid, and Oxford, being 100, 120, and 40 mg/L as CaCO₃ respectively. Thus, while nitrite levels were not reported, it is likely that the nitrite concentration in the fresh

effluent may have been in the range of 0.01 to 1 mg-N/L. Were effluent nitrite not oxidized to nitrate by hydrogen peroxide, it would likely have had a significant effect on the OH radical concentration during the application of the AOP.

If the removal of a target contaminants by the UV/H₂O₂ AOP is not influenced by suspended solids, then the filtration unit process may be freely relocated elsewhere in the treatment scheme. For example, filtration may take place following the AOP, possibly utilizing biologically active filtration in order to further oxidize more biodegradable products from the AOP.

CHAPTER IV: CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Some remarks can be made.

- Removal of trace organic pollutants was observed after direct application of UV/H₂O₂ to biological effluents under bench-scale collimated beam conditions.
- No significant effect could be observed for the influence of suspended solids (< 10 mg/L) on AOP efficiency during the applied treatments under bench scale conditions.
- 3. Observed scavenging in effluent wastewater samples from three plants appear to involve both dissolved organic matter and alkalinity. The degree of influence of these two factors differs in the three waters, with some waters appearing to be dominated by alkalinity or possibly an unknown parameter.

Recommendations:

- Assess treatment of water sampled from reuse facilities using MF, UF, RO processes and comparing the energy cost of target compound removal in terms of EE/O.
- 2. Gather energy consumption or electrical cost data from such facilities as the Orange County Ground Water Replenishment System for various unit

processes (MF and RO) to better quantify the improvement in water quality and scavenging from the perspective of the AOP.

- 3. Test the influence of reduction of UV absorbance and removal of low molecular weight organic acids by physical chemical methods prior to UV/H_2O_2
- 4. Perform life cycle analysis of both UV/H_2O_2 AOP and ozonation of wastewater effluents, including cost of bromate mitigation.
- 5. Compare production of nitrogenous disinfection by products by both UV/H_2O_2 and ozonation of wastewater effluents.
- Test treatability of compounds found to have higher reactivity with the bicarbonate radical and confirmation that the alkalinity does not impede this process.
REFERENCES

Al-Bahou, M., Z. Al-Rafak, H. Zaki, H. Ettouney (2007) Desalination experience in Kuwait. *Desalination*, 204, 403-415.

Al-Mutaz, I.S. (2001) Potential of nuclear desalination in the Arabian Gulf countries. *Desalination*, 135, 187-194.

Allen, P., W. Whittenberg, D. Argo (1966) Planning to meet future water requirements by Orange County, California. *Desalination*, 23, 471-483.

Allen, P. (1979) They said it couldn't be done – the Orange County, California experience. *Desalination*, 30, 23-38.

Al-Outaibi, A., M. Abdel-Jawad (2007) Water security for Kuwait. *Desalination*, 214, 299-305.

Andreakis, A.D. (1993) Physical and chemical properties of activated sludge floc. *Water Research*, 27, 1707-1714.

Andreozzi, R., V. Caprio, A. Insola, R. Marotta (1999) Advanced oxidation processes (AOP) for water purification and recovery. *Catalysis Today*, 53, 51-59.

Anipsitakis, G.P., D.D. Dionysiou (2004) Transition metal/UV-based advanced oxidation technologies for water decontamination. *Applied Catalysis B: Environmental*, 54, 155-163.

Angelakis, A.N., M.H.F. Marecos Do Monte, L. Bontoux, T. Asano (1999) The status of wastewater reuse practice in the Mediterranean basin: need for guidelines. *Water Research*, 33, 2201-2217

APHA, AWWA, WEF. *Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater*, 20th ed.; American Public Health Association, American Water Works Association, and Water Environment Federation: Washington, DC, 1998.

Argo, D. (1978) Energy and water supply, Orange County, California. *Desalination*, 25, 135-149.

Asano, T. (1986) Wastewater reclamation and reuse. *Journal of the Water Pollution Control Federation*, 58, 529-532.

Asano, T. (1993) Proposed California regulations for groundwater recharge with reclaimed municipal wastewater. *Water Science and Technology*, 27, 157-164.

Asano, T. (2002) Water from (waste)water-the dependable water resource. *Water Science and Technology*, 45, 24-33.

Baumann, D.D. (1983) Social acceptance of water reuse. Applied Geography, 3, 79-84.

Baker, D.J., D.C. Stuckey (1999) A review of soluble microbial products (SMP) in wastewater treatment systems. Water Research, 33, 3063-3082.

Baxendale, J.H., J.A. Wilson (1957) The Photolysis of hydrogen peroxide at high light intensities. *Transactions of the Faraday Society*, 53, 344-356.

Bishop, D.F., G. Stern, M. Fleischman, L.S. Marshall (1968) *Hydrogen peroxide catalytic oxidation of refractory organics in municipal waste waters*. Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Process and Design Development, 7, 110-117.

Blank, J.E., G.F. Tusel, S. Nisanc (2007) The real cost of desalted water and how to reduce it further. *Desalination*, 205, 2988-311.

Bolton, J.R., K.G. Bircher, W. Tumas, C.A. Tolman (1996) Figures-of-Merit for the Technical Development and Application of Advanced Oxidation Processes. *Journal of Advanced Oxidation Technology*, 1, 13-17.

Bolton, J.R., K.G. Bircher, W. Tumas, C.A. Tolman (1996) Figures-of-Merit for Advanced Oxidation Technologies: A Comparison of Homogeneous UV/H_2O_2 , Heterogeneous UV/TiO_2 and Electron Beam Processes. *Journal of Advanced Oxidation Technology*, 1, 13-17.

Bolton, J.R., M.I. Stefan (2002) Fundamental photochemical approach to the concepts of fluence (UV dose) and electrical energy efficiency in photochemical degradation reactions. *Research on Chemical Intermediates*, 28, 857-870.

Bolton, J.R., K.G. Linden (2003), Standardization of Methods for Fluence (UV Dose) Determination in Bench-Scale UV Experiments. *Journal of Environmental Engineering*, 129, 209-215.

Bourgeous, K.N., J.L. Darby, G. Tchobanoglous (2001) Ultrafiltration of wastewater: effects of particles, mode of operation, and backwash effectiveness. *Water Research*, 35, 77-90.

Bouwer, E. J., P.L. McCarthy, H. Bouwer, R. C. Rice (1984) Organic Contaminant Behavior During Rapid Infiltration of Secondary Wastewater at the Phoenix 23rd Avenue Project. *Water Research*, 18, 463-472.

Buer, T., J. Cumin (2010) MBR module design and operation. *Desalination*, 250, 1073-1077.

Burton, F.L. (1996) Water and Wastewater Industries: Characteristics and Energy Management Opportunities, CR-10691, Electric Power Research Institute, St. Louis, MO.

Buxton, G. B., C. L. Greenstock, W.P., Helman, A. B. Ross, (1988), Critical Review of Rate Constants for Reactions of Hydrated Electrons, Hydrogen Atoms and Hydroxyl

Radicals (OH/O⁻) in Aqueous Solutions, *Journal of Physical and Chemical Reference Data*, 17, 513-887.

Byrns, G. (2001) The fate of xenobiotic organic compounds in wastewater treatment plants. *Water Research*, 35, 2523-2533.

Caldwell D.J., F. Mastrocco, E. Nowak, J. Johnston, H. Yekel, D. Pfeiffer, et al. (2010) An Assessment of Potential Exposure and Risk from Estrogens in Drinking Water. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 118, 338-344.

Cao, X. et al. (2009) A new method of water desalination using microbial desalination cells. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 43, 7148-7152.

Carey, J. H. (1992), An Introduction to Advanced Oxidation Processes (AOP) for Destruction of Organics in Wastewater. *Water Pollution Research Journal of Canada*, 27, 1-21.

Chakraborti, R.K., U.G. Erda, J.M. Lozier, M.L. Vorissis, K. Ortega, T. Maloney (2007) Using bench scale techniques to assess treatment options for an advanced water purification facility. *Proceedings of the Water Environment Federation, WEFTEC 2007*, 6131-6144.

Chanan, A., J. Kandasamy, S. Vigneswaran, D. Sharma (2009) A gradualist approach to address Australia's urban water challenge. *Desalination*, 249, 1012-1016.

Chen, S., M. Z. Hoffman (1973) Rate constants for the reaction of the carbonate radical with compounds of biochemical interest in neutral aqueous solution. *Radiation Research*, 56, 40-47.

Chudoba, J. (1987) Purification Limits of the Activated Sludge Process. *Acta Hydrochimica et Hydrobiologica*, 15, 445-457.

City of London Sewage Treatment (2010), accessed January 31, 2011, http://www.london.ca/d.aspx?s=/Sewer_and_Wastewater/Sewagetreatment_index. htm

Crittenden, J. C., S. M. Hu, D. W. Hand, S. A. Green (1999) A kinetic model for H_2O_2/UV process in a completely mixed batch reactor. *Water Research*, 33, 2315-2328.

Crittenden, J.C.; R.R. Trussell, D.W. Hand, K.J. Howe, G. Tchobanoglous (2005) *Water Treatment: Principles and Design*. 2nded, Wiley.

Daughton, C. G., T. A. Ternes (1999) Pharmaceuticals and Personal Care Products in the Environment: Agents of Subtle Change? *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 107, 907-938.

Darwish, M.A., N. Al-Najem (2005) The water problem in Kuwait. *Desalination*, 177, 167-177.

Darwish, M.A., F.M. Al-Awadhi, A. Akbar, A. Darwish (2009) Alternative primary energy for power desalting plants in Kuwait: the nuclear option I. *Desalination*, 25-41.

Davenport, W.F. (1994) Desalination? Decision making. Desalination, 99, 257-273.

Davis, W.K., L. Galstaun, C. Scharpf (1967) 150-MGD Dual-purpose plant for the metropolitan water district of Southern California. *Desalination*, 2, 227-233.

Deshmukh, S. (2004) The groundwater replenishment system- indirect potable reuse for groundwater recharge using membrane and advanced oxidation systems, AQUAREC Workshop Thessaloniki.

Dillon, P., P. Pavelic, S. Toze, S. Rinck-Pfeiffer, R. Martin, A. Knapton, D. Pidsley (2006) Role of aquifer storage in water reuse. *Desalination*, 188, 123-134.

Dong, M., S. P. Mezyk, F. Rosario-Ortiz (2010) Reactivity of effluent organic matter (EfOM) with hydroxyl radical as a function of molecular weight. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 44, 5714-5720.

Evans B., P. Laughton (1994) Emerging trends in electrical usage at Canadian (Ontario) municipal wastewater treatment facilities and strategies for improving energy efficiency. *Water Science and Technology*, 30, 17-23.

Farooq S., Z. Ansari (1981) Philosophy of water reuse in Islamic perspective. *Desalination*, 39, 79-84.

Fent, K., A.A. Weston, D. Caminada (2006) Ecotoxicology of human pharmaceuticals – a review. *Aquatic Toxicology*, 76, 122-159.

Forstmeier M., F. Mannerheim, F. D'Amato, M. Shah, Y. Liu, M. Baldea, A. Stella (2007) Feasibility study on wind-powered desalination. *Desalination*, 203, 463-470.

Franquelin, B., F. Murat, C. Temstet (1983) Application of multi-effect process at high temperature for large seawater desalination plants. *Desalination*, 45, 81-92.

Fraser, B. (2010) Researchers find little known PCB "pretty much everywhere". *Environmental Science and Technology*, 44, 2753-2754.

Fritzmann, C., J. Löwenberg, T. Wintgens, T. Melin (2007), State-of-the-art of reverse osmosis desalination. *Desalination*, 216, 1-76.

Fujita, Y., W.Ding, M. Reinhard (1996) Identification of wastewater dissolved organic carbon characteristics in reclaimed wastewater and recharged groundwater. *Water Environment Research*, 68, 867-876.

Gallard, H., U. von Gunten (2002) Chlorination of natural organic matter: kinetics of chlorination and of THM formation. *Water Research*, 36, 65-74.

Giger, W., E. Stephanou, C. Schaffner (1981) Persistent organic chemicals in sewage effluents: I. Identifications of nonylphenols and nonylphenolethoxylates by glass capillary gas chromatography/mass spectrometry. *Chemosphere*, 10, 1253-1263.

Gil, J.A., L. Túa, A. Rueda, B. Montaño, M. Rodriguez, D. Pratz (2010) Monitoring and analysis of the energy cost of an MBR. *Desalination*, 250, 997-1001.

Glaze, W. H., J. Kang, D. H. Chapin (1987) The Chemistry of water treatment processes involving ozone, hydrogen peroxide and ultraviolet radiation. *Ozone: Science and Engineering*, 9, 335-352.

Glaze, W. H., R. Schep, W. Chauncey, E.C. Ruth, J.J. Zarnoch, E. M. Aieta, C. H. McGuire, J. Michael (1990) Evaluating oxidants for the removal of model taste and odor compounds from municipal water supply. Journal of the American Water Works Association, 82, 79-84.

Gleick, P.H. (1993) *Water in Crisis; A Guide to the World's Fresh Water Resources,* Oxford University Press, New York.

Glucina, K., A. Alvarez, J.M. Laine (2000) Assessment of an integrated membrane system for surface water treatment. *Desalination*, 132, 73-82.

Goldstone, J.V., M.J. Pullin, S. Bertilsson, B.M. Voelker (2002) Reactions of hydroxyl radical with humic substances: bleaching, mineralization, and production of bioavailable organic substrate. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 36, 364-372.

Haberkamp, J., A.S. Ruhl, M. Ernst, M. Jekel (2007) Impact of coagulation and adsorption on DOC fractions of secondary effluents and resulting fouling behavior in ultrafiltration. *Water Research*, 41, 3794-3802.

Harshbarger, J.C., M.J. Coffey, M.Y. Young (2000) Intersexes in Mississippi River shovelnose sturgeon sampled below Saint Louis, Missouri, USA. *Marine Environmental Research*, *50*, 247-250.

Hartley, T.W. (2006) Public perception and participation in water reuse. *Desalination*, 187, 115-126.

Henze, M. (1997) Waste design for households with respect to water, organics and nutrients. *Water Science and Technology*, 35, 113-120.

Herberer, T. (2002) Occurrence, fate, and removal of pharmaceutical residues in the aquatic environment: a review of recent research data. *Toxicology Letters*, 131, 5-17.

Herberer, T. (2002) Tracking persistent pharmaceutical residues from municipal sewage to drinking water. *Journal of Hydrology*, 266, 175-189.

Hoigné, J., H. Bader (1976) The role of hydroxyl radical reactions in ozonation processes in aqueous solutions. *Water Research*, 10, 377-386.

Hoigné, J., H. Bader (1979) Ozonation of water: oxidation-competition values of different types of Waters Used in Switzerland. *Ozone: Science and Engineering*, 1, 357-372.

Hoigné , J., H. Bader (1983*a*) Rate constants of the reactions of ozone with organic and inorganic compounds – I. Non-dissociating organic compounds. *Water Research*, 17, 173-183.

Hoigné, J., H. Bader (1983*b*) Rate constants of the reactions of ozone with organic and inorganic compounds –II. Dissociating organic compounds. *Water Research*, 17, 185-194.

Hoigné, J., H. Bader (1985) Rate constants of the reactions of ozone with organic and inorganic compounds –III. Inorganic compounds and radicals. *Water Research*, 19, 993-1004.

Hoigné, J. (1997) Inter-calibration of OH radical sources and water quality parameters. *Water Science and Technology*, 35, 1-8.

Hollender, J., S. G. Zimmermann, S. Keopke, M. Krauss, C. S. McArdell, C. Ort, H. Singer, U. von Gunten, H. Siegrist (2009) Elimination of organic micropollutants in a municipal wastewater treatment plant upgraded with a full-scale post-ozonation followed by sand filtration. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 43, 7862-7869.

Huber, M.M., S. Canonica, G.Y. Park, U. von Gunten (2003) Oxidation of pharmaceuticals during ozonation and advanced oxidation processes. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 37, 1016-1024.

Huber, M.M., A. Gobel, A. Joss, N. Hermann, D. Loffler, C.S. McArdell, A. Ried, H. Siegrist, T. A. Ternes, U. von Gunten (2005) Oxidation of pharmaceuticals during ozonation of municipal wastewater effluents: a pilot study. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 39, 4290-4299.

Hussein, I., O. Al-Jayyousi (1999) Evaluating water-importation options in Jordan: opportunities and constraints. *Water and Environment Journal*, 13, 245-249.

Janzen, E.G., Y. Kotake, H. Randall (1992) Stabilities of hydroxyl radical spin adducts of PBN-type spin traps. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, 12, 169-173.

Jeffries, K.M., E.R. Nelson, L.J. Jackson, H.R. Habibi (2008) Basin-wide impacts of compounds with estrogen-like activities on longnose dace (*Rhinichthys cataractae*) in two prarie rivers of Alberta, Canada. *Environmental Toxicology*, 27, 2042-2052.

Jobling, S., M. Nolan, C.R. Tyler (1998) Widespread sexual disruption in wild fish. Environmental Science and Technology, 32, 2498-2506.

Jolis, D., R. Hirano, P. Pitt (1999) Tertiary Treatment Using Microfiltration and UV Disinfection for Water Reclamation. *Water Environment Research*, 71, 224-231.

Jones, C.W. (1999) *Applications of Hydrogen Peroxide and Derivatives*. Royal Society of Chemistry.

Jones, O. A., P.G. Green, N. Voulvoulis, J.N. Lestor (2007) Questioning the excessive use of advanced treatment to remove organic micropollutants from wastewater. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 41, 5085-5089.

Kang, Y.W., K.Y. Huang (2000) Effects of reaction conditions on the oxidation efficiency in the Fenton process. *Water Research*. 34, 2786-2790.

Kidd, K.A., P.J. Blanchfield, K.H. Mills, V.P. Palace, R.E. Evans, J.M. Lazorchak, R.W. Flick (2007) Collapse of a fish population after exposure to a synthetic estrogen. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 104, 8897-8901.

Kim, S.E., H. Yamada, H. Tsuno (2007) Ozonation parameter for removal of oestrogenicity from secondary effluent without by-products. *Water Science and Technology*, 55, 233-240.

Kinney, C.A., E.T. Furlong, S.L. Werner, J.D. Cahill (2006) Presence and distribution of wastewater-derived pharmaceuticals in soil irrigated with reclaimed water. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 25, 317-326.

Khamis I. (2009) A global overview on nuclear desalination. *International Journal of Nuclear Desalination*, 3, 311-328.

Klassen, N. V., D. Marchington, H.C. E. McGowan (1994) H_2O_2 determination by the I_3 ⁻ method and by KMnO4 titration. *Analytical Chemistry*, 66, 2921-2925.

Kolpin, D.W., E.T. Furlong, M.T. Meyer, E. M. Thurman, S. D. Zaugg, L. B. Barber, H.T. Buxton (2002) Pharmaceuticals, hormones, and other organic wastewater contaminants in US streams, 1999-2000: a national reconnaissance. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 36, 1202-1211.

Laidler, K.J. (1987) Chemical Kinetics, 3rd ed. Prentice Hall.

Lalezary S., M. Pirbazari, M.J. McGuire (1986) Oxidation of earthy-musty taste and odor compounds. *Journal of the American Water Works Association*, 78, 62-69.

Langlais, B., D.A. Reckhow, D.R. Brink editors (1991) Ozone in Water Treatment: applications and engineering. Lewis Publishers.

Larsen, T., W. Gujer (1996) Separate management of anthropogenic nutrient solutions (human urine). *Water Science and Technology*, 34, 87-94.

Larsen, T., W. Gujer (1997) The concept of sustainable urban water management. *Water Science and Technology*, 35, 3-10.

Larsen, T., I. Peters, A. Alders, R. Egger, M. Maurer, J. Muneke (2001*a*) Reengineering the toilet for sustainable wastewater management. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 35, 192-197. Larsen, T., W. Gujer (2001*b*) Waste design and source control lead to flexibility in wastewater management. *Water Science and Technology*, 43, 309-318.

Larsen, T., J. Lienert (2004) How to avoid pharmaceuticals in the aquatic environment. *Journal of Biotechnology*, 113, 295-304.

Larson, R.A., R.G. Zepp (2009) Reactivity of the carbonate radical with aniline derivatives. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 4, 265-274.

Lazarova, V., A. Bahri (2005) *Water Reuse for Irrigation: agriculture, landscapes, and turf grass,* CRC Press.

Linden, K.G., J.L. Darby (1998) Ultraviolet disinfection of marginal effluents: determining ultraviolet absorbance and subsequent estimation of ultraviolet intensity. *Water Environment Research*; 70, 214-223.

López-Ramirez, J.A., S. Sahuquillo, D. Sales, J.M. Quiroga (2003) Pre-treatment optimization studies for secondary effluent reclamation with reverse osmosis. *Water Research*, 37, 1177-1184.

Ma, H., H.E. Allen, Y. Yin (2001) Characterization of isolated fractions of dissolved organic matter from natural waters and a wastewater effluent. *Water Research*, 35, 985-996.

Macpherson, L. (2005) Winning minds to water reuse: The road to NEWater. Proceedings of the Water Environment Federation, WEFTEC 2005, 1286-1294.

Mamane, H., J.J. Ducoste, K.G. Linden (2006) Effect of particles on ultraviolet light penetration in natural and engineered systems. *Applied Optics*, 45, 1844-1856.

Masschelein W.J. (2002) Ultraviolet Light in Water and Wastewater Sanitation. Lewis Publishers.

Mauer, M., W. Pronk, T.A. Larsen (2006) Treatment process for source-separated urine – a review. *Water Research*, 40, 3151-3166.

Morgan, M.S., P.F. van Trieste, S.M. Garlick, M.J. Mahon, A.L. Smith (1988) Ultraviolet molar absorptivities of aqueous hydrogen peroxide and hydroperoxyl ion. *Analitica Chimica Acta*, 215, 325-329.

Nakatani, N., H. Shindo, M. Yamamoto, M. Kikkawa, H. Sakugawa (2007) Determination of Photoformation Rates and Scavenging Rate Constants of Hydroxyl Radicals in Natural Waters Using an Automatic Light Irradiation and Injection System, *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 581, 260-267.

Oldenburg, M., A. Peter- Fröhlich, C. Dlabacs, L. Pawlowski, A. Bonhomme (2007) EU demonstration project for separate discharge and treatment of urine, faeces and greywater- part II: - cost comparison of different sanitation systems. *Water Science and Technology*, 56, 251-257.

Oneby, M.A., C.O. Bromley, J.H. Brochardt, D.S. Harrison (2010) Ozone treatment of secondary effluent at U.S. municipal wastewater treatment plants. Ozone Science and Engineering,

Oppenländer, T. (2003) Photochemical Purification of Water and Air-Advanced Oxidation Processes (AOPs): Principles, Reactions Mechanisms, Reactor Concepts. Wiley-VCH.

Orange County Water District (2008) Groundwater Replenishment System. http://www.gwrsystem.com/about/construction.html, Cited June 1, 2010.

Otterpohl, R. (2002) Options for alternative types of sewerage and treatment systems directed to improvement of the overall performance. *Water Science and Technology*, 45, 149-158.

Otterphol, R., U. Braun, M. Oldenburg (2003) Innovative technologies for decentralized water, wastewater and biowaste management in urban and periurban areas. *Water Science and Technology*, 48, 23-32.

Overcash, M. (2002) The evolution of US pollution prevention, 1976-2001: a unique chemical engineering contribution to the environment – a review. Journal of Chemical Technology and Biotechnology, 77, 1197-1205.

Padilla, A.P., H. Saitua (2010) Performance of simultaneous arsenic, fluoride, and alkalinity (bicarbonate) rejection by pilot-scale nanofiltration. *Desalination*, 257, 16-21.

Pearce, G.K. (2008) UF/MF pretreatment to RO in seawater and wastewater reuse applications: a comparison of energy costs. *Desalination*, 222, 66-73.

Periera, V. J., H. S. Weinberg, K. G. Linden, P. C. Singer (2007) UV degradation kinetics and modeling of pharmaceutical compounds in laboratory grade surface water via direct and indirect photolysis at 254 nm. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 41, 1682-1688.

Periera, V. J., K. G. Linden, H.S. Weinberg (2007) Evaluation of UV irradiation for photolytic and oxidative degradation of pharmaceutical compounds in water. Water Research, 41, 4413-4423.

Peter-Fröhlich, A., L. Pawlowski, A. Bonhomme, M. Oldenburg (2007) EU demonstration project for separate discharge and treatment of urine, faeces and greywater- part I: results. *Water Science and Technology*, 56, 239-249.

Petrasek, A., I.J. Kugelman, B.M. Austern, T.A. Pressley, et al. (1983) Fate of toxic organic compounds in wastewater treatment plants. *Journal of the Water Pollution Control Federation*, 55, 1286-1296.

Pi, Yunzheng,, J. Schumacher, M. Jekel (2005) The Use of para-chlorobenzonic acid (pCBA) as an ozone/hydroxyl radical probe compound. *Ozone: Science and Engineering*; 27, 431-436.

Phillips R. (1983) Sources and Applications of Ultraviolet Radiation. Academic Press.

Plumlee, M.H., M. López-Mesas, A. Heidlberger, K.P. Ishida, M. Reinhard (2008) Nnitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) removal by reverse osmosis and UV treatment and analysis via LC-MS/MS. *Water Research*, 42, 347-355.

Public Utilities Board of Singapore, History of NEWater, Internet http://www.pub.gov.sg/about/historyfuture/Pages/NEWater.aspx, Cited June 1, 2010.

Pyne, R.D. (1995) Groundwater recharge and wells: a guide to aquifer storage and recovery. CRC Press.

Qin, J.J., M. Htun Oo, M., M. Nyunt Wai, K.A. Keker (2005) TOC removal in reclamation of municipal wastewater by RO. *Separation and Purification Technology*, 46, 125-128.

Quickenden, T.I., J.A. Irvin (1980) The ultraviolet absorption spectrum of liquid water. *Journal of Chemical Physics*, 72, 4416-4428.

Radke, M., H. Ulrich, C. Wurm, U. Kunkel (2010) Dynamics and attenuation of acidic pharmaceuticals along a river stretch. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 44, 2968-2974.

Ram, N.M, R.F. Christman, K.P. Cantor (1990) *Significance and Treatment of Volatile Organic Compounds in Water Supplies.* Lewis Publishers.

Rebhun, M., G. Engel (1988) Reuse of wastewater for industrial cooling systems. *Journal of the Water Pollution Control Federation*, 60, 237-392.

Rengao, S., P. Westerhoff, R. Minear, G. Amy (1997) Bromate minimization during ozonation. *Journal of the American Water Works Association*, 89, 69-78.

Rice, R.G. (1999) Ozone in the United States of America – State of the Art. *Ozone Science and Engineering*, 21, 99-118.

Rickert, D. A., J. V. Hunter (1971) General Nature of Soluble and Particulate Organics in Sewage and Secondary Effluent. *Water Research*, 5, 421-436.

Robson, C.M., R.G. Rice (1991) Wastewater Ozonation in the U.S.A. – History and Current Status – 1989, *Ozone Science and Engineering*, 13, 23-40.

Rosenfeldt, E. J., K. G. Linden (2004), Degradation of Endocrine Disrupting Chemicals Bisphenol A, Ethinyl Estradiol, and Estradiol During UV Photolysis and Advanced Oxidation Processes. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 38, 5476-5483. Rosenfeldt, E.J., K.G. Linden (2007) The $R_{OH,UV}$ concept to characterize and the model UV/ H_2O_2 process in natural waters. Environmental Science and Technology, 41, 2548-2553.

Rosario-Ortiz, F. L., S. P. Mezyk, D. F. R. Doud, S. A. Snyder (2008) Quantitative Correlation of Absolute Hydroxyl Radical Rate Constants with Non-Isolated Effluent Organic Matter Bulk Properties in Water. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 42, 5924-5930.

Salliby, E.I., Y. Okur, H.K. Shon, J. Kandasamy, I.S. Kim (2009) Desalination plants in Australia, review and facts. *Desalination*, 247, 1-14.

Schaefer, J. (2001) Reliable water supply by reusing wastewater after membrane treatment. *Desalination*, 138, 91.

Schiffler, M. (2004) Perspectives and challenges for desalination for the 21st century. *Desalination*, 165, 1-9.

Sharpless, C.M., K.G. Linden (2003) Experimental and model comparisons of lowand medium-pressure Hg lamps for the direct and H_2O_2 assisted UV photodegradation of N-nitrosodimethylamine in simulated drinking water. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 37, 1933-1940.

Shon, H.K., S. Vigneswaran, S.A. Snyder (2006) Effluent Organic Matter (EfOM) in Wastewater: Constituents, Effects, and Treatment. *Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology*, 36, 327-374.

Smith, P.G., P. Coackley (1984) Diffusivity, tortuosity and pore structure of activated sludge. *Water Research*, 15, 117-122.

Snoeyink V., D. Jenkins (1980) Water Chemistry, Wiley.

Snyder, S.A., E.C. Wert, D.J. Rexing, R.E. Zegers, D.D. Drury (2006) Ozone oxidation of endocrine disruptors and pharmaceuticals in surface water and wastewater. *Ozone Science and Engineering*, 28, 445-460.

Staehelin, J., J. Hoigné (1982) Decomposition of ozone in water: rate of initiation by hydroxide ions and hydrogen peroxide. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 16, 676-681.

Staehelin, J., J. Hoigné (1985) Decomposition of ozone in water in the presence of organic solutes acting as promoters and inhibitors of radical chain reactions. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 19, 1206-1213.

Steiner, A. E., D. A. McLaren, C.F. Forster (1976) The nature of activated sludge flocs. *Water Research*, 10, 25-30.

Stefan, M.I., C.T. Williamson (2004) *UV light-based applications*, in *Advanced Oxidation Processes for Water and Wastewater*, ed. S. Parsons, IWA.

Suratt, W.B., D.A. Okun (1996) State-of-the-art techniques reverse osmosis, nanofiltration and electrodialysis in drinking water supply. National Report: USA. *Water Supply*, 14, 320-322.

Swain, P., A. Royce, T. Smith, T. Maloney, D. Ehlen, B. Carter (2008) Effectiveness of UV advanced oxidation for destruction of micro-pollutants. *Ozone Science and Engineering*, 30, 34-42.

Tchobanoglous, G., F. L. Burton, H. D. Stensel (2003) *Wastewater Engineering: Treatment and Reuse*. McGraw Hill.

Ternes, T.A., A. Joss, H. Siegrist (2004) Scrutinizing pharmaceuticals and personal care products in wastewater treatment: the complexity of these hazards should not be underestimated. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 38, 392A-399A.

Tortajada, C. (2006) Water management in Singapore. *International Journal of Water Resources Development*, 22, 227-240.

Turchi, C.S., D.F. Ollis (1990) Photocatalytic degredation of organic water contaminants: mechanisms involving hydroxyl radical attack. *Journal of Catalysis*, 122, 178-192.

Turek, M. (2002) Cost effective electrodialytic seawater desalination. *Desalination*, 153, 371-376.

Wayne, R.P. (1988) *Principles and Applications of Photochemistry*. Oxford Science Pub.

Welch, E.B., T. Lindell (1992) *Ecological Effects of Wastewater: applied limnology and pollution effects.* 2nd ed., Spon Press.

Wert, E.C., F.L. Rosario-Ortiz, D. D. Drury (2007) Formation of oxidation byproducts from ozonation of wastewater. *Water Research*, 41, 1481-1490.

Wert, E.C., F. Rosario-Ortiz, S. Snyder (2008) Effect of ozone exposure on the oxidation of trace organic contaminants in wastewater. Water *Research*. 43, 1005-1014.

Woodling, J.D., E.M. Lopez, T.A. Maldonado, D.O. Norris, A.M. Vajda (2006) Intersex and other reproductive disruptions of fish in wastewater effluent dominated Colorado streams. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part C: Toxicology & Pharmacology*, 144, 10-15.

Wu, C., K.G. Linden (2008) Degradation and byproduct formation of parathion in aqueous solutions by UV and UV/H_2O_2 treatment. *Water Research*, 42, 4780-4790.

von Gunten, U. (2003) Ozonation of drinking water: part I. oxidation kinetics and product formation. *Water Research*, 37, 1443-1467.

Yu, J.T., E. J. Bouwer, M. Coelhan (2006) Occurrence and biodegradability studies of selected pharmaceuticals and personal care products in sewage effluent. *Agricultural Water Management*, 86, 72-80.

Zepp, R.G., B.C. Faust, J. Hoigné (1992) Hydroxyl radical formation in aqueous reactions (pH 3-8) of iron (II) with hydrogen peroxide: the photo-fenton reaction. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 26, 313-319.

APPENDIX A: DERIVATION OF IMPORTANT EQUATIONS

Photolysis of H₂O₂ reaction

 $H_2O_2 \xrightarrow{hv} 2OH \bullet$

Peroxide molecules are split by photons of 254 nm, with a quantum yield of $\Phi = 1$, half the theoretical amount due to the cage effect.

Photonic irradiance or Beer-Lambert law (Es/cm² s)

 $I = I_{\alpha}e^{-\alpha'x}$

This expression relates the remaining photonic irradiance I after traversing a distance x through a medium of absorptivity of α' , with an initial photonic irradiance I_o at the lamp to liquid interface. The rate of decrease of the photonic irradiance I with distance x traversed into the liquid equals the rate of photonic absorption per volume I_a from the lamp-air-liquid interface to the point x.

Rate of photon absorption per volume of liquid at distance x from the lampliquid interface (Es / $cm^3 s$)

$$I_a = -\frac{dI}{dx} = \alpha' I_o e^{-\alpha' x}$$

Volume rate of photolysis of H_2O_2 from liquid interface to position x in the liquid.

$$r_{x} = -\phi \cdot f \cdot I_{a}$$

$$r_{avg,\ell} = \frac{\int_{o}^{\ell} r_{x} dx}{\int_{o}^{\ell} dx} = \frac{1}{\ell} \int_{o}^{\ell} r_{x} dx = -\frac{1}{\ell} \int_{o}^{\ell} \phi \cdot f \cdot I_{a} \cdot dx = -\frac{1}{\ell} \int_{o}^{\ell} \phi \cdot f \cdot \alpha' \cdot I_{o} \cdot e^{-\alpha' x} \cdot dx$$

$$r_{avg,\ell} = \frac{\phi \cdot f \cdot I_o}{\ell} (1 - e^{-\alpha'\ell})$$

where f is the fraction of photons absorbed by H_2O_2 compared to the total photon absorption of the liquid

$$f = \frac{\varepsilon' \cdot [H_2 O_2]}{\alpha'}$$

$$r_{avg,\ell} = \frac{\phi \cdot \varepsilon' \cdot [H_2 O_2] \cdot I_o}{\alpha' \cdot \ell} (1 - e^{-\alpha' \ell})$$

$$r_{avg,\ell} = \phi \cdot \varepsilon' \cdot [H_2 O_2] \cdot \frac{E_o}{U} \cdot \frac{(1 - e^{-\alpha' \ell})}{\alpha' \ell}$$

or

$$r_{avg,\ell} = \phi \cdot \varepsilon \cdot \left[H_2 O_2\right] \cdot \frac{E_o}{U} \cdot \frac{(1 - 10^{-\alpha \ell})}{\alpha \cdot \ell}$$

where

$$\alpha' = 2.303 \cdot \alpha$$
$$\varepsilon' = 2.303 \cdot \varepsilon$$
$$e^{-\alpha'\ell} = 10^{-\alpha\ell}$$

Steady-state OH concentration [OH]ss

To express the OH radical concentration, under the steady-state assumption, the rate of generation of OH radicals (photolysis of H_2O_2) is equal the rate of consumption of OH radicals (scavenging by solutes reactive with OH radicals).

$$r_{generation} = \frac{d[OH \bullet]}{dt} = -\frac{d[H_2O_2]}{dt} = \phi \cdot \varepsilon \cdot [H_2O_2] \cdot \frac{E_o}{U} \cdot \frac{(1-10^{-\alpha \ell})}{\alpha \cdot \ell}$$
$$r_{consumption} = -\frac{d[OH \bullet]}{dt} = (k_1 \cdot [S_1] + k_2 \cdot [S_2] + \dots + k_i \cdot [S_i]) \cdot [OH \bullet] = \sum_i k_i \cdot [S_i] \cdot [OH \bullet]$$

 $r_{generation} = r_{consumption}$

$$[OH \bullet]_{SS} = \frac{\phi \cdot \varepsilon \cdot [H_2 O_2] \cdot \frac{E_o}{U} \cdot \frac{(1 - 10^{-\alpha \ell})}{\alpha \cdot \ell}}{\sum_{i} k_i \cdot [S_i] + k_{H2O2} \cdot [H_2 O_2]}$$

APPENDIX B: EXPERIMENTAL DATA

B.1 Water quality Total Suspended Solids (TSS)

Measured using 500ml samples of effluent taken on April $4^{\rm th}$ 2009 London Ontario.

WWTP	Final weight	Initial weight	Net weight	TSS
	(g)	(g)	(g)	(mg/L)
Pottersburg	0.3792	0.3755	0.0034	7.4
(CAS ₁)	0.3813	0.3775	0.0038	7.6
	7.5 ± 0.1			
Adelaide	0.3831	0.3778	0.0053	10.6
(CAS ₂)	0.3755	0.3706	0.0049	9.8
	Average ± st	andard deviat	ion	10.2 ± 0.6
Oxford	0.3696	0.3698	-	<1
(MBR)				

Microfiltrates (0.22 μ m pore size) produced TSS < 1 mg/L as expected (test used 1 μ m pore size filter pad).

Alkalinity

Measured using 100ml samples of effluent taken on April $4^{\rm th}$ 2009, London Ontario, by titration to pH 4.5 with 0.02N sulfuric acid.

WWTP	pH initial	Initial volume	Final volume	Volume	Alkalinity
		(mL)	(mL)	(mL)	mg/L
					as Ca CO3
Pottersburg	7.3	12.2	1.5	10.7	107
(CAS ₁)	7.0	12.4	2.3	10.1	101
	7.0	10.4	0.3	10.1	101
	103 ± 3				
Adelaide	7.0	12.9	0.3	12.6	126
(CAS ₂)	7.1	12.1	0.1	12.0	120
	7.1	12.6	0.8	11.8	118
	Average ± s	tandard deviat	tion		121 ± 4
Oxford	6.8	3.9	0.1	3.8	38
(MBR)	6.7	7.7	3.9	3.8	38
					38 ± 1

No effect on alkalinity or pH was found for microfiltered samples.

Chemical Oxygen Demand

Measured by Hach COD test kit, using closed relflux method in prepared sample vials

WWTP	COD	
	mg/L as O ₂	
Pottersburg	63	
(CAS ₁)		
Pottersburg Microfiltrate	55	
(CAS ₁ +MF)		
Adelaide	70	
(CAS ₂)		
Adelaidde Microfiltrate	55	
(CAS ₂ +MF)		
Oxford	48	
(MBR)		

Deionized water blanks used to zero instrument before readings of COD

B.2 HPLC	calibration	curve for	рСВА
-----------------	--------------------	-----------	------

[pCBA] µg/L	peak area*	[pCBA] μg/L	peak area*	[pCBA] μg/L	peak area*
445	74551	300	47607	100	13497
445	71785	300	47043	100	14542
445	73168	300	48321	100	13954
445	71362	300	48798	100	12969
445	71033	300	45949	100	14478
400	65311	200	28952		
400	64745	200	30890		
400	64197	200	31964		
400	63579	200	30158		
400	63270	200	31333		
			!		

* arbitrary units for peak area



B.3 Collimated Beam Petri Factor

y-position (cm)	meter reading (mW/cm²)	x-position (cm)	meter reading (mW/cm²)
3.0	0.273	-3.0	0.249
-2.5	0.281	-2.5	0.266
-2.0	0.274	-2.0	0.270
-1.5	0.269	-1.5	0.272
-1.0	0.265	-1.0	0.274
-0.5	0.266	-0.5	0.278
0.0	0.272	0.0	0.278
0.5	0.279	0.5	0.264
1.0	0.287	1.0	0.261
1.5	0.293	1.5	0.258
2.0	0.298	2.0	0.254
2.5	0.272	2.5	0.231
3.0	0.086	3.0	0.082

Center irradiance = 0.275 mW/cm² Petri Factor = 0.976 Reflection Factor = 0.975 Divergence Factor = 0.934

Potter	Pottersburg WWTP unfiltered secondary effluent										
Run 1	of 3										
		liį	ght reactio	n		dark reaction					
time (min)	peak area	[pCBA] (µg/L)	In(C/C _o) a	α (cm ⁻¹) b	[H2O2] (mg/L) b	peak area	[pCBA] (μg/L)	In(C/C _o) a	α (cm ^{.1})	[H2O2] (mg/L)	
0	46160	291	0.0164	0.212	13.7	46160	291	0.0164	0.212	13.7	
0	45174	286	-0.0052	0.212	13.7	45174	286	-0.0052	-	-	
0	44899	284	-0.0113	0.212	13.7	44899	284	-0.0113	-	-	
10	30382	198	-0.4019	0.203	13.4	40001	255	-0.1269	-	-	
20	25001	166	-0.5968	0.194	-	42119	268	-0.0753	-	-	
30	29847	195	-0.4197	0.185	12.7	48745	307	0.0708	-	-	
40	26330	174	-0.5451	0.176	12.4	42692	271	-0.0617	-	-	
50	24737	165	-0.6075	0.166	12.0	46874	296	0.0317	-	-	
60	23700	159	-0.650 3	0.157	11.7	43906	278	-0.0337	-	-	
70	18009	125	-0.9249	0.148	11.4	45702	289	0.0064	-	-	
78	15097	108	-1.1013	0.141	11.2	47720	301	0.0496	0.199	12.0	

B.4 Collimated Beam Experiments with pCBA

Potte	Pottersburg WWTP unfiltered secondary effluent										
Run 2	2 of 3										
		li	ght reaction	n		dark reaction					
time (mın)	peak area	[pCBA] (μg/L)	ln(C/C₀) ª	α (cm ¹) b	[H2O2] (mg/L) b	peak area	[pCBA] (μg/L)	ln(C/C _o) ª	α (cm ¹)	[H2O2] (mg/L)	
0	46313	292	0.0180	0.210	13.2	46313	292	0.0180	0.210	13.2	
о	46582	294	0.0237	0.210	13.2	46582	294	0.0237	-	-	
0	43573	276	0.0430	0.210	13.2	43573	276	-0.0430	-	-	
10	39887	254	0.1314	0.200	12.9	42538	270	-0.0671	-	-	
20	36468	234	0.2210	0.191	12.7	45838	290	0.0076	-	-	
30	32651	212	-0.3320	0.181	12.5	47010	297	0.0329	-	-	
40	27811	183	0.4921	0.171	12.2	47997	302	0.0537	-	-	
50	24346	162	0.6251	0.161	12.0	44085	279	-0.0314	-	-	
60	17590	122	0.9502	0.152	11.7	43491	276	-0.0449	-	-	
70	-	-	-	0.142	11.3	48226	304	0.0584	-	-	
80	17296	121	-0.967	0.132	13.2	44121	279	-0.0305	0.198	11.9	

Potte	Pottersburg WWTP unfiltered secondary effluent											
Run 3	3 of 3											
		lij	ght reactio	n				dark reactio	n			
time (min)	peak area	[pCBA] (µg/L)	ln(C/Co) a	α (cm·1) b	[H2O2] (mg/L) b	peak area	[pCBA] (μg/L)	ln(C/C _o) a	α (cm ⁻¹)	[H2O2] (mg/L)		
0	48997	308	0	0.205	13.2	48997	308	0	0.205	13.2		
10	42859	272	-0.1338	0.198	13.0	47029	297	-0.0410	-	-		
20	39659	253	-0.2114	0.190	12.8	46438	293	-0.0536	-	-		
30	34153	220	-0.3609	0.183	12.7	46691	295	-0.0482	-	-		
40	27423	181	-0.5804	0.175	12.5	48696	307	-0.0062	-	-		
50	24002	160	-0.7136	0.168	12.3	47064	297	-0.0403	-	-		
60	21514	146	-0.8231	0.160	12.1	49367	310	0.0075	-	-		
70	15618	111	-1.1433	0.153	12.0	50590	318	0.0320	-	-		
80	16227	114	-1.1051	0.145	11.8	43789	277	-0.1124	0.192	12.2		
						I						

Potte	Pottersburg WWTP microfiltered effluent											
Run	1 of 3											
		li	ght reaction	n		dark reaction						
time (mın)	peak area	[pCBA] (μg/L)	ln(C/C₀) ª	α (cm ¹) b	[H2O2] (mg/L) b	peak area	[pCBA] (µg/L)	In(C/C₀) ª	α (cm 1)	[H2O2] (mg/L)		
0	54242	339	0.0090	0.116	13.2	54242	339	0.0090	0.116	13.2		
0	53271	334	-0.0091	0.116	13.2	53271	334	-0.0091	-	-		
10	43640	277	-0.2085	0.115	13.1	54964	344	0.0222	-	-		
20	40934	261	-0.2725	0.113	13.0	54131	339	0.0069	-	-		
30	37811	242	-0.3519	0.112	12.9	53138	333	-0.0116	-	-		
40	36029	232	-0.4001	0.110	12.8	54297	340	0.0100	-	-		
50	27841	183	-0.6580	0.109	12.8	57791	360	0.0724	-	-		
60	22737	153	-0.8605	0.107	12.7	54425	340	0.0124	-	-		
70	22546	152	-0.8689	0.106	12.6	54643	342	0.0164	-	-		
80	19200	132	-1.0296	0.104	12.5	54862	343	0.0204	0.118	13.3		
	1					1						

Potter Run 2	rsburg ' of 3	WWTP n	nicrofilter	ed efflu	ent					
		li	ght reactio	n		dark reaction				
time (min)	peak area	[pCBA] (µg/L)	In(C/Co) a	α (cm ⁻¹) b	[H2O2] (mg/L) b	peak area	[pCBA] (μg/L)	ln(C/C₀) ª	α (cm ⁻¹)	[H2O2] (mg/L)
0	49250	310	-0.0013	0.115	13.2	49250	310	-0.0013	0.115	13.2
0	49365	310	0.0011	0.115	13.2	49365	310	0.0011	-	-
0	49325	310	0.0002	0.115	13.2	49325	310	0.0002	-	-
10	41811	266	-0.1650	0.109	12.9	48493	305	-0.0168	-	-
20	35416	228	-0.3310	0.104	12.7	51657	324	0.0464	-	-
30	28945	190	-0.5328	0.098	12.4	53010	332	0.0723	-	-
40	18605	128	-0.9748	0.093	12.1	51238	322	0.0383	-	-
50	11745	88	-1.4348	0.087	11.9	52898	331	0.070 8	-	-
60	<loq< td=""><td>-</td><td>-</td><td>-</td><td>-</td><td>49728</td><td>313</td><td>0.0084</td><td>-</td><td>-</td></loq<>	-	-	-	-	49728	313	0.0084	-	-
70	<loq< td=""><td>-</td><td>-</td><td>-</td><td>-</td><td>47997</td><td>302</td><td>-0.0271</td><td>-</td><td>-</td></loq<>	-	-	-	-	47997	302	-0.0271	-	-
80	<loq< td=""><td>-</td><td>-</td><td>-</td><td>-</td><td>52669</td><td>330</td><td>0.0658</td><td>0.117</td><td>13.2</td></loq<>	-	-	-	-	52669	330	0.0658	0.117	13.2

Potte	ersburg	WWTP i	microfilte	red efflı	ient						
Run :	3 of 3										
		1	ight reactio	o n		dark reaction					
tıme (mın)	peak area	[pCBA] (µg/L)	In(C/Co) a	α (cm 1) b	[H2O2] (mg/L) ^b	peak area	[pCBA] (µg/L)	ln(C/C₀) ª	α (cm 1)	[H2O2] (mg/L)	
0	50156	315	-0 0098	0 115	13 1	50156	315	-0 0098	0 115	13 1	
0	49845	313	-0 0160	0 115	13 1	49845	313	-0 0160	-	-	
0	50990	320	0 0067	0 115	13 1	50990	320	0 0067	-	-	
0	51604	324	0 0187	0 115	13 1	51604	324	0 0187	-	-	
10	36195	233	-0 3360	0 107	12 9	51752	325	0 0216	-	-	
10	37008	237	0 3138	0 107	12 9	52861	331	0 0428	-	-	
20	25323	168	0 6932	0 099	12 6	52403	328	0 0341	-	-	
20	24065	161	-0 7442	0 099	12 6	52638	330	0 0385		-	
30	14803	106	-1 2301	0 090	12 4	53479	335	0 0544	-	-	
30	14908	107	-1 2230	0 090	12 4	52034	326	0 02 70	-	-	
40	12810	94	-1 3747	0 082	12 2	50177	315	-0 0094	-	-	
40	12517	92	-1 3978	0 082	12 2	50769	319	0 0024	0 117	12 9	
	I					I					

Adela	aide WV	VTP unfi	ltered seco	ndary e						
Run	1 of 3									
		1	ight reaction	n			d	ark reactio	n	
time (mın)	peak area	[pCBA] (μg/L)	ln(C/C _o) a	α (cm ¹) b	[H2O2] (mg/L) ^b	peak area	[pCBA] (μg/L)	ln(C/C₀) ª	α (cm ¹)	[H2O2] (mg/L)
0	53919	337	0.0263	0.145	13.0	53919	337	0.0263	0.145	13.0
0	51897	325	-0.0119	0.145	13.0	51897	325	-0.0119	-	-
0	51742	325	-0.0149	0.145	13.0	51742	325	-0.0149	-	-
10	44185	280	-0.1728	0.141	12.3	50692	318	-0.0354	-	-
20	41304	263	-0.2402	0.137	11.7	50466	317	-0.0399	-	-
30	33450	216	-0.4511	0.132	11.1	53601	336	0.0204	-	-
40	28266	186	-0.6195	0.128	10.5	53034	332	0.009 8	-	-
50	21204	144	-0.9070	0.124	10.0	53533	335	0.0191	-	-
60	18355	127	-1.0513	0.120	9.5	52135	327	-0.0073	-	-
70	13078	96	-1.390 3	0.115	9.0	53399	334	0.0166	-	-
80	8046	66	-1.8760	0.111	8.5	51799	325	-0.0138	0.126	8.8
	1					I				

Adelaide WWTP unfiltered secondary effluent											
Run 2	of 3										
		1	ight reaction		dark reaction						
time (min)	peak area	[pCBA] (µg/L)	ln(C/C _o) a	α (cm ¹) b	[H2O2] (mg/L) b	peak area	[pCBA] (μg/L)	ln(C/C₀) ª	α (cm ¹)	[H2O2] (mg/L)	
0	56944	355	0.0411	0.141	<i>13</i> .7	56944	355	0.0411	0.141	13.7	
0	51394	322	-0.0615	0.141	13.7	51394	322	-0.0615	-	-	
0	55617	347	0.0175	0.141	13.7	55617	347	0.0175	-	-	
10	43190	274	-0.2354	0.138	12.9	54205	339	-0.0082	-	-	
20	34918	225	-0.4480	0.135	12.1	53443	335	-0.0224	-	-	
30	29971	196	-0.6008	0.132	11.4	51733	324	-0.0549	-	-	
40	23417	157	-0.8475	0.130	10.7	51605	324	-0.0574	-	-	
50	17565	122	-1.1351	0.127	10.1	55722	348	0.0194	-	-	
60	12306	91	-1.490 9	0.124	9.5	56730	354	0.0373	-	-	
70	9369	74	-1.7636	0.121	8.9	54315	340	-0.0062	-	-	
80	5610	52	-2.2764	0.118	8.4	53734	336	-0.0169	0.139	8.8	

Adelaide WWTP unfiltered secondary effluent											
Run 3	s of 3										
		li	ght reactio	n	dark reaction						
time (mın)	peak area	[pCBA] (μg/L)	In(C/C₀) ª	α (cm ¹) b	[H2O2] (mg/L) ^b	peak area	[pCBA] (µg/L)	In(C/C _o) ª	α (cm 1)	[H2O2] (mg/L)	
0	51444	323	-0.0093	0.142	13.0	51444	323	-0.0093	0.142	13.0	
0	53210	333	0.0244	0.142	13.0	53210	333	0.0244	-	-	
0	51125	321	-0.0155	0.142	13.0	51125	321	-0.0156	-	-	
10	44932	284	-0.1447	0.136	12.2	50232	316	-0.033 2	-	-	
20	35721	230	-0.3741	0.131	11.4	55080	344	0.0590	-	-	
30	27966	184	-0.6188	0.125	10.7	52282	328	0.0068	-	-	
40	22884	154	-0.8194	0.119	10.0	52315	328	0.0075	-	-	
50	15468	110	-1.2111	0.114	9.4	52947	332	0.0195	-	-	
60	10931	83	-1.5582	0.108	8.8	51592	324	-0.0065	-	-	
70	<loq< td=""><td>-</td><td>-</td><td>-</td><td>-</td><td>51293</td><td>322</td><td>-0.0123</td><td>-</td><td>-</td></loq<>	-	-	-	-	51293	322	-0.0123	-	-	
80	<loq< td=""><td>-</td><td>-</td><td>-</td><td>-</td><td>54424</td><td>340</td><td>0.0470</td><td>0.134</td><td>9.1</td></loq<>	-	-	-	-	54424	340	0.0470	0.134	9.1	
	l					l.					

Adela	ide WW	TP micro	filtered e	ffluent								
Run 1	of 3											
		lig	ht reaction	n		dark reaction						
time (min)	peak area	[pCBA] (µg/L)	In(C/C _o) a	α (cm 1) b	[H2O2] (mg/L) ^b	peak area	[pCBA] (μg/L)	In(C/C _o) ª	α (cm 1)	[H2O2] (mg/L)		
0	54265	339	-0.011	0.104	13.2	54265	339	-0.011	0.104	13.2		
о	53573	335	-0.023	0.104	13.2	53573	335	-0.023	-	-		
0	56678	354	0.03 3	0.104	13.2	56678	354	0.033	-	-		
10	47928	302	-0.1347	0.101	13.0	53423	334	-0.0262	-	-		
25	33104	214	-0.5047	0.097	12.6	57687	360	0.0506	-	-		
35	24066	161	-0.8240	0.094	12.4	53656	336	-0.0218	-	-		
40	20463	139	-0.9858	0.092	12.3	52253	328	-0.0483	-	-		
50	13592	<i>99</i>	-1.3949	0.089	12.0	54393	340	-0.0082	-	-		
60	10488	80	-1.6542	0.086	11.8	54967	344	0.0023	-	-		
70	8187	67	-1.9019	0.083	11.6	56615	353	0.031 9	-	-		
80	<loq< td=""><td>-</td><td>-</td><td>-</td><td>-</td><td>57125</td><td>356</td><td>0.0409</td><td>0.106</td><td>11.6</td></loq<>	-	-	-	-	57125	356	0.0409	0.106	11.6		

ide WW	/TP micr	ofiltered e	effluent								
of 3											
	li	ight reactio	n		dark reaction						
peak area	[pCBA] (µg/L)	ln(C/C₀)ª	α (cm ⁻¹) b	[H2O2] (mg/L) ^b	peak area	[pCBA] (µg/L)	ln(C/C₀) º	α (cm ⁻¹)	[H2O2] (mg/L)		
53382	334	0.0462	0.102	13.1	53382	334	0.0462	0.102	13.1		
48967	308	-0.0400	0.102	13.1	48967	308	-0.0400	-	-		
50569	318	-0.0078	0.102	13.1	50569	318	-0.0080	-	-		
39001	249	-0.2677	0.099	12.8	48578	306	-0.0481	-	-		
30529	199	-0.5126	0.095	12.4	48506	305	-0.0496	-	-		
26160	173	-0.6671	0.093	12.1	49043	309	-0.0386	-	-		
19253	132	-0.9736	0.091	12.0	50463	317	-0.0101	-	-		
12999	95	-1.3664	0.089	11.8	54730	342	0.0711	-	-		
8936	71	-1.7412	0.086	11.5	51778	325	0.0157	-	-		
<loq< td=""><td>-</td><td>-</td><td>-</td><td>-</td><td>52458</td><td>329</td><td>0.0287</td><td>-</td><td>-</td></loq<>	-	-	-	-	52458	329	0.0287	-	-		
<loq< td=""><td>-</td><td>-</td><td>-</td><td>-</td><td>49902</td><td>314</td><td>-0.0212</td><td>0.110</td><td>13.2</td></loq<>	-	-	-	-	49902	314	-0.0212	0.110	13.2		
	de WW of 3 peak area 53382 48967 50569 39001 30529 26160 19253 12999 8936 <loq <loq< td=""><td>de WW I P mich of 3 peak [pCBA] area (µg/L) 53382 334 48967 308 50569 318 39001 249 30529 199 26160 173 19253 132 12999 95 8936 71 <loq -<br=""><loq -<="" td=""><td>de WW IP microfiliered e light reactio $of 3$ light reactio $peak$ $[pCBA]$ $ln(C/C_o)^a$ $area$ $(\mu g/L)$ $ln(C/C_o)^a$ 53382 334 0.0462 48967 308 -0.0400 50569 318 -0.0078 39001 249 -0.2677 30529 199 -0.5126 26160 173 -0.6671 19253 132 -0.9736 12999 95 -1.3664 8936 71 -1.7412 <math><loq< math=""> $-$</loq<></math></td><td>de WW IP microfiltered effluent of 3 light reaction peak area <math>[pCBA](\mug/L) $ln(C/C_o)^a$ a (cm⁻¹) b 53382 334 0.0462 0.102 48967 308 -0.0400 0.102 50569 318 -0.0078 0.102 39001 249 -0.2677 0.099 30529 199 -0.5126 0.095 26160 173 -0.6671 0.093 19253 132 -0.9736 0.091 12999 95 -1.3664 0.089 8936 71 -1.7412 0.086 <loq< td=""> - - - <loq< td=""> - - - </loq<></loq<></math></td><td>de WW IP microfiltered effluent of 3light reactionpeak area<math>[pCBA]($\mu g/L$)$ln(C/C_o)^a$ (cm^{-1}) $b$$a$ (cm^{-1}) $b$$[H_2O_2](mg/L)^b$533823340.04620.10213.148967308-0.04000.10213.150569318-0.00780.10213.150569318-0.00780.10213.139001249-0.26770.09912.830529199-0.51260.09512.426160173-0.66710.09312.119253132-0.97360.09112.01299995-1.36640.08911.8893671-1.74120.08611.5<loq< td=""><loq< td=""></loq<></loq<></math></td><td>light reactionlight reactionpeak area<math>[pCBA](\mug/L)$ln(C/C_0)^a$ <math>(cm^{-1})bα $(mg/L)^b$peak area533823340.04620.10213.15338248967308-0.04000.10213.14896750569318-0.00780.10213.15056939001249-0.26770.09912.84857830529199-0.51260.09512.44850626160173-0.66710.09312.14904319253132-0.97360.09112.0504631299995-1.36640.08911.854730893671-1.74120.08611.551778<loq< td="">49902</loq<></math></math></td><td>de WW IP microjiltered ejjittentof 3light reactionapeak area<math>[pCBA](\mug/L)$ln(C/C_o)^a$ $c^{(cm^{-1})}$ $b$$a$$[H_2O_2](mg/L)^b$peak area<math>[pCBA](\mug/L)533823340.04620.10213.15338233448967308-0.04000.10213.15338233448967308-0.04000.10213.14896730850569318-0.00780.10213.15056931839001249-0.26770.09912.84857830630529199-0.51260.09512.44850630526160173-0.66710.09312.14904330919253132-0.97360.09112.0504633171299995-1.36640.08911.854730342893671-1.74120.08611.551778325<loq< td="">49902314</loq<></math></math></td><td>de WWI P microfiltered effluent of 3light reactiondark reactionpeak$[pCBA] (\mu g/L)$$ln(C/C_0)^a$$\alpha \\ (cm^{-1}) \\ b^b$$[mg/L)^b$$peak \\ area$$[pCBA] (\mu g/L)$$ln(C/C_0)^a$533823340.04620.10213.1533823340.046248967308-0.04000.10213.148967308-0.040050569318-0.00780.10213.150569318-0.008039001249-0.26770.09912.848578306-0.049626160173-0.66710.09312.149043309-0.038619253132-0.97360.09112.050463317-0.01011299995-1.36640.08911.8547303420.0711893671-1.74120.08611.5517783250.0157<loq< td="">49902314-0.0212</loq<></td><td>de WW I P micro/iltered e//itered e//</td></loq></loq></td></loq<></loq 	de WW I P mich of 3 peak [pCBA] area (µg/L) 53382 334 48967 308 50569 318 39001 249 30529 199 26160 173 19253 132 12999 95 8936 71 <loq -<br=""><loq -<="" td=""><td>de WW IP microfiliered e light reactio $of 3$ light reactio $peak$ $[pCBA]$ $ln(C/C_o)^a$ $area$ $(\mu g/L)$ $ln(C/C_o)^a$ 53382 334 0.0462 48967 308 -0.0400 50569 318 -0.0078 39001 249 -0.2677 30529 199 -0.5126 26160 173 -0.6671 19253 132 -0.9736 12999 95 -1.3664 8936 71 -1.7412 <math><loq< math=""> $-$</loq<></math></td><td>de WW IP microfiltered effluent of 3 light reaction peak area <math>[pCBA](\mug/L) $ln(C/C_o)^a$ a (cm⁻¹) b 53382 334 0.0462 0.102 48967 308 -0.0400 0.102 50569 318 -0.0078 0.102 39001 249 -0.2677 0.099 30529 199 -0.5126 0.095 26160 173 -0.6671 0.093 19253 132 -0.9736 0.091 12999 95 -1.3664 0.089 8936 71 -1.7412 0.086 <loq< td=""> - - - <loq< td=""> - - - </loq<></loq<></math></td><td>de WW IP microfiltered effluent of 3light reactionpeak area<math>[pCBA]($\mu g/L$)$ln(C/C_o)^a$ (cm^{-1}) $b$$a$ (cm^{-1}) $b$$[H_2O_2](mg/L)^b$533823340.04620.10213.148967308-0.04000.10213.150569318-0.00780.10213.150569318-0.00780.10213.139001249-0.26770.09912.830529199-0.51260.09512.426160173-0.66710.09312.119253132-0.97360.09112.01299995-1.36640.08911.8893671-1.74120.08611.5<loq< td=""><loq< td=""></loq<></loq<></math></td><td>light reactionlight reactionpeak area<math>[pCBA](\mug/L)$ln(C/C_0)^a$ <math>(cm^{-1})bα $(mg/L)^b$peak area533823340.04620.10213.15338248967308-0.04000.10213.14896750569318-0.00780.10213.15056939001249-0.26770.09912.84857830529199-0.51260.09512.44850626160173-0.66710.09312.14904319253132-0.97360.09112.0504631299995-1.36640.08911.854730893671-1.74120.08611.551778<loq< td="">49902</loq<></math></math></td><td>de WW IP microjiltered ejjittentof 3light reactionapeak area<math>[pCBA](\mug/L)$ln(C/C_o)^a$ $c^{(cm^{-1})}$ $b$$a$$[H_2O_2](mg/L)^b$peak area<math>[pCBA](\mug/L)533823340.04620.10213.15338233448967308-0.04000.10213.15338233448967308-0.04000.10213.14896730850569318-0.00780.10213.15056931839001249-0.26770.09912.84857830630529199-0.51260.09512.44850630526160173-0.66710.09312.14904330919253132-0.97360.09112.0504633171299995-1.36640.08911.854730342893671-1.74120.08611.551778325<loq< td="">49902314</loq<></math></math></td><td>de WWI P microfiltered effluent of 3light reactiondark reactionpeak$[pCBA] (\mu g/L)$$ln(C/C_0)^a$$\alpha \\ (cm^{-1}) \\ b^b$$[mg/L)^b$$peak \\ area$$[pCBA] (\mu g/L)$$ln(C/C_0)^a$533823340.04620.10213.1533823340.046248967308-0.04000.10213.148967308-0.040050569318-0.00780.10213.150569318-0.008039001249-0.26770.09912.848578306-0.049626160173-0.66710.09312.149043309-0.038619253132-0.97360.09112.050463317-0.01011299995-1.36640.08911.8547303420.0711893671-1.74120.08611.5517783250.0157<loq< td="">49902314-0.0212</loq<></td><td>de WW I P micro/iltered e//itered e//</td></loq></loq>	de WW IP microfiliered e light reactio $of 3$ light reactio $peak$ $[pCBA]$ $ln(C/C_o)^a$ $area$ $(\mu g/L)$ $ln(C/C_o)^a$ 53382 334 0.0462 48967 308 -0.0400 50569 318 -0.0078 39001 249 -0.2677 30529 199 -0.5126 26160 173 -0.6671 19253 132 -0.9736 12999 95 -1.3664 8936 71 -1.7412 $ -$	de WW IP microfiltered effluent of 3 light reaction peak area $[pCBA](\mug/L) ln(C/C_o)^a a(cm-1)b 53382 334 0.0462 0.102 48967 308 -0.0400 0.102 50569 318 -0.0078 0.102 39001 249 -0.2677 0.099 30529 199 -0.5126 0.095 26160 173 -0.6671 0.093 19253 132 -0.9736 0.091 12999 95 -1.3664 0.089 8936 71 -1.7412 0.086 - - - - - - $	de WW IP microfiltered effluent of 3light reactionpeak area $[pCBA](\mu g/L)ln(C/C_o)^a(cm^{-1})ba(cm^{-1})b[H_2O_2](mg/L)^b533823340.04620.10213.148967308-0.04000.10213.150569318-0.00780.10213.150569318-0.00780.10213.139001249-0.26770.09912.830529199-0.51260.09512.426160173-0.66710.09312.119253132-0.97360.09112.01299995-1.36640.08911.8893671-1.74120.08611.5$	light reactionlight reactionpeak area $[pCBA](\mug/L)ln(C/C_0)^a(cm^{-1})b\alpha(mg/L)^bpeakarea533823340.04620.10213.15338248967308-0.04000.10213.14896750569318-0.00780.10213.15056939001249-0.26770.09912.84857830529199-0.51260.09512.44850626160173-0.66710.09312.14904319253132-0.97360.09112.0504631299995-1.36640.08911.854730893671-1.74120.08611.55177849902$	de WW IP microjiltered ejjittentof 3light reaction a peak area $[pCBA](\mug/L)ln(C/C_o)^ac^{(cm^{-1})}ba[H_2O_2](mg/L)^bpeakarea[pCBA](\mug/L)533823340.04620.10213.15338233448967308-0.04000.10213.15338233448967308-0.04000.10213.14896730850569318-0.00780.10213.15056931839001249-0.26770.09912.84857830630529199-0.51260.09512.44850630526160173-0.66710.09312.14904330919253132-0.97360.09112.0504633171299995-1.36640.08911.854730342893671-1.74120.08611.55177832549902314$	de WWI P microfiltered effluent of 3light reactiondark reactionpeak $[pCBA] (\mu g/L)$ $ln(C/C_0)^a$ $\alpha \\ (cm^{-1}) \\ b^b$ $[mg/L)^b$ $peak \\ area$ $[pCBA] (\mu g/L)$ $ln(C/C_0)^a$ 533823340.04620.10213.1533823340.046248967308-0.04000.10213.148967308-0.040050569318-0.00780.10213.150569318-0.008039001249-0.26770.09912.848578306-0.049626160173-0.66710.09312.149043309-0.038619253132-0.97360.09112.050463317-0.01011299995-1.36640.08911.8547303420.0711893671-1.74120.08611.5517783250.0157 <loq< td="">49902314-0.0212</loq<>	de WW I P micro/iltered e//itered e//		

Adela	ide WV	/TP micr	ofiltered e	effluent	Ļ ,							
Run 3	of 3											
		li	ight reactio	n		dark reaction						
tíme (min)	peak area	[pCBA] (μg/L)	In(C/C₀)ª	α (cm ⁻¹) b	[H2O2] (mg/L) ^b	peak area	[pCBA] (μg/L)	In(C/C _o) a	α (cm ⁻¹)	[H2O2] (mg/L)		
0	55034	344	0.0293	0.106	13.2	55034	344	0.0293	0.106	13.2		
0	52452	329	-0.0188	0.106	13.2	52452	329	-0.0188	-	-		
0	52850	331	-0.0112	0.106	13.2	52850	331	-0.0112	-	-		
10	49563	312	-0.0754	0.104	13.1	52891	331	-0.0104	-	-		
20	45228	286	-0.1669	0.101	13.0	53940	338	0.0092	-	-		
30	38663	247	-0.3238	0.099	12.9	57051	356	0.0653	-	-		
40	40328	257	-0.2816	0.096	12.8	51204	321	-0.0428	-	-		
50	35534	229	-0.4082	0.094	12.7	54860	343	0.0261	-	-		
60	26539	175	-0.7000	0.091	12.6	55793	349	0.0430	0.115	13.2		

Oxfor	Oxford WWTP membrane bioreactor (MBR) permeate											
Run 1	of 3		•									
		h	ight reactio	n		dark reaction						
time (min)	peak area	[pCBA] (μg/L)	ln(C/C₀)ª	α (cm ¹) b	[H2O2] (mg/L) ^b	peak area	[pCBA] (µg/L)	ln(C/C _o) ª	α (cm 1)	[H2O2] (mg/L)		
0	50636	318	-0.0140	0.125	6.5	50636	318	-0.0140	0.125	6.5		
0	50627	318	-0.0142	0.125	6.5	50627	318	-0.0142	-	-		
0	52786	331	0.0276	0.125	6.5	52786	331	0.0276	-	-		
10	45169	286	-0.1283	0.122	6.4	54316	340	0.0562	-	-		
20	41486	264	-0.2133	0.119	6.3	52338	328	0.0191	-	-		
30	36297	233	-0.3469	0.116	6.2	53325	334	0.0378	-	-		
40	32253	209	-0.4651	0.113	6.1	54139	339	0.0529	0.125	6.3		
						l						

Oxfor	Oxford WWTP membrane bioreactor (MBR) permeate											
Run 2	of 3											
		h	ight reactio	on 🛛		dark reaction						
time (min)	peak area	[pCBA] (μg/L)	ln(C/C₀)ª	α (cm-1) b	[H2O2] (mg/L) ^b	peak area	[pCBA] (μg/L)	In(C/C₀) ª	α (cm ⁻¹)	[H2O2] (mg/L)		
0	52731	330	-0.0078	0.124	6.5	52731	330	-0.0078	0.124	6.5		
0	51946	326	-0.0228	0.124	6.5	51946	326	-0.0228	-	-		
0	54753	342	0.0298	0.124	6.5	54753	342	0.0298	-	-		
5	53267	334	0.0023	0.123	6.5	53612	336	0.0088	-	-		
10	46904	296	-0.1249	0.122	6.4	54616	342	0.0273	-	-		
20	46059	291	-0.1431	0.120	6.4	53336	334	0.0036	-	-		
30	40579	258	-0.2697	0.117	6.3	54253	339	0.0207	-	-		
40	39245	251	-0.3032	0.115	6.3	54246	339	0.0205	0.125	6.5		

^a C=[pCBA] ^b initial and final values measured and intermediate values interpolated

Oxfor Run 3	d WWT	P memb	rane biore	actor (rmeate					
nun 5	0,5	h	ight reactio	on		dark reaction				
time (min)	peak area	[pCBA] (μg/L)	ln(C/C₀)ª	α (cm ⁻¹) b	[H2O2] (mg/L) ^b	peak area	[pCBA] (μg/L)	In(C/C₀) ª	α (cm ⁻¹)	[H2O2] (mg/L)
0	61595	383	-0.0104	0.125	5.9	61595	383	-0.0104	0.125	5.9
0	61819	384	-0.0068	0.125	5.9	61819	384	-0.0068	-	-
0	63311	393	0.0170	0.125	5.9	63311	393	0.0170	-	-
5	58448	364	-0.0629	0.124	5.9	59868	373	-0.0389	-	-
10	54269	339	-0.1371	0.123	5.8	61332	381	-0.0147	-	-
20	46044	291	-0.3014	0.120	5.7	61766	384	-0.0077	-	-
30	45519	288	-0.3129	0.118	5.7	62548	388	0.0049	-	-
40	40928	261	-0.4192	0.115	5.6	62197	386	-0.0007	0.125	5.8

^a C=[pCBA] ^b initial and final values measured and intermediate values interpolated